# DISSERTATIONES BIOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 217

data, citation and similar papers at core.ac.uk

brought to you

provided by DSpace at Tartu l

# DISSERTATIONES BIOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 217

# **TUUL SEPP**

Hematological health state indices of greenfinches: sources of individual variation and responses to immune system manipulation



Department of Zoology, Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu

Dissertation was accepted for the commencement of the degree of *Doctor philosophiae* in animal ecology at the University of Tartu on June 11, 2012 by the Scientific Council of the Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences, University of Tartu.

Supervisor: Prof. Peeter Hõrak, University of Tartu, Estonia

Opponent: Prof. Kevin J. McGraw, Arizona State University, USA

Commencement: Room 301, 46 Vanemuise Street, Tartu,

on August 10, 10.15 a.m., 2012

Publication of this thesis is granted by the Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences, University of Tartu, and by the Doctoral School of Earth Sciences and Ecology created under the auspices of European Social Fund.



European Union European Social Fund



Investing in your future

ISSN 1024-6479 ISBN 978-9949-32-061-5 (trükis) ISBN 978-9949-32-062-2 (PDF)

Autoriõigus: Tuul Sepp, 2012

Tartu Ülikooli Kirjastus www.tyk.ee Tellimus nr. 348

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

| LIST OF ORIGINAL PAPERS  | 6  |  |
|--|----|--|
| 1. INTRODUCTION  | 7  |  |
| 1.1. Immunoecology – a multidisciplinary approach                  | 7  |  |
| 1.2. Costs of immune response                                      | 8  |  |
| 1.3. Oxidative stress and ecological research of animals           | 9  |  |
| 1.4. Aims of the thesis  | 10 |  |
| 2. MODEL SYSTEM  | 14 |  |
| 3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION  | 16 |  |
| 3.1. Testing the long-term impact of PHA on leukocyte profiles     | 16 |  |
| 3.2. Investigating the measures of oxidative status                | 17 |  |
| 3.3. How are different health state indexes affected by captivity? | 18 |  |
| 3.4. Carotenoids modulate immune response to chronic infection     | 20 |  |
| 3.5. Coccidian infection causes oxidative damage                   | 21 |  |
| 3.6. Oxidative stress and information content of black and yellow  |    |  |
| plumage coloration   | 23 |  |
| SUMMARY  | 25 |  |
| SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN  |    |  |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS   | 33 |  |
| REFERENCES   |    |  |
| PUBLICATIONS   | 41 |  |

### LIST OF ORIGINAL PAPERS

- 1. Sarv, T.; Hõrak, P. (2009). Phytohaemagglutinin injection has a long-lasting effect on immune cells. Journal of Avian Biology, 40, 569–571.
- 2. Sepp, T., Sild, E., Blount, J., Männiste, M., Karu, U., Hõrak, P. (2012) Individual consistency and covariation of measures of oxidative status in avian blood. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology, 85, 299–307.
- 3. Sepp, T..; Sild, E.; Hõrak, P. (2010). Hematological condition indexes in greenfinches: effects of captivity and diurnal variation. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology, 83, 276–282.
- 4. Sepp, T.; Karu, U.; Sild, E.; Männiste, M.; Hõrak, P. (2011). Effects of carotenoids, immune activation and immune suppression on the intensity of chronic coccidiosis in greenfinches. Experimental Parasitology, 127, 651–657.
- 5. Sepp, T., Karu, U., Blount, J., Sild, E., Männiste, M., Hõrak, P. (2012). Coccidian infection causes oxidative damage in greenfinches. PLoS ONE, 7 (5): e36495.
- 6. Hõrak, P.; Sild, E.; Soomets, U.; Sepp, T.; Kilk, K. (2010). Oxidative stress and information content of black and yellow plumage coloration: an experiment with greenfinches. Journal of Experimental Biology, 213, 2225–2233.

Author's contribution to the papers

|                        | I | II | III | IV | V | VI |
|------------------------|---|----|-----|----|---|----|
| Original idea          | * | *  | *   |    |   |    |
| Study design           | * | *  | *   | *  |   |    |
| Data collection        | * | *  | *   | *  | * | *  |
| Data analysis          | * |    | *   |    |   | *  |
| Manuscript preparation | * | *  | *   | *  | * | *  |

#### I. INTRODUCTION

## 1.1. Immunoecology - a multidisciplinary approach

All organisms are infected by numerous parasite species, many of which are host-specific (Schmid-Hempel, 2011). Hosts vary considerably in their susceptibility to infection. Finding the causes of this variation has become one of the key questions to both ecologists and evolutionary biologists, since the role of parasites and pathogens in the evolution of life-history- and signal traits is drawing more and more attention. Immune system protects the organisms against this vast array of intruders. To detect and destroy parasites, immune system constructs sophisticated recognition and memory pathways, releases harmful substances and increases metabolism. One common factor that links all classes of host defenses is that they require resources that the host might otherwise have used for some other function (Sheldon & Verhulst, 1996). These resources might be directly needed for mounting an immune response, but also for damage control after the immune response has taken place. Immune defenses thus have their costs - maintaining an effective immune system and conducting an immune response might come at the expense of some other function vital for the life-history of the organism (Zuk & Stoehr, 2002). This approach is the basis of the expanding new discipline – immunoecology (Lee, 2006; Sheldon & Verhulst, 1996).

The primary goal of immunoecology is to find out the factors, both extrinsic and intrinsic, leading to changes in immune system function, and understand how these changes affect disease susceptibility (Demas & Nelson, 2012). For example, it has been shown that the magnitude of immune response to microbial challenges might depend on seasonality (Lozano & Lank, 2003), temperature (Adamo & Lovett, 2011) and population density (Muller *et al.*, 2006), but also on intrinsic factors such as age (Belloni *et al.*, 2010), sex (Fargallo *et al.*, 2007) or stress level (Martin, 2009). Immune responses are deeply integrated to host physiology, at the same time being sensitive to environmental variation and can therefore be important indicators of overall physical condition (O'Neal & Ketterson, 2012). A multidisciplinary approach to immune system research gives valuable knowledge about the functioning of an organism in addition to narrowly specialized immunological studies.

The aim of immunoecological research is to discover the mechanisms that link immune function to other vital functions of an organism, such as sexual signalling, reproduction, growth or maintenance. Eventually, such an approach helps to explain the causes and consequences of variation of individual phenotypic quality in natural populations.

### 1.2. Costs of immune response

Viewing the immune system in the context of the whole organism and its life-history, we can start to understand why hosts remain susceptible to parasites and why immune responses vary. Although it has now been accepted that immune responses are costly (for examples, see Moreno-Rueda, 2011; Moret & Schmid-Hempel, 2000; Sorci & Faivre, 2009), the question about the currencies used for paying this cost has remained poorly understood. One reason for this gap in our knowledge might be the complicated nature of immune system, which makes assessing the magnitude of immune response and accompanying costs difficult.

Immune system consists of innate and adaptive arms that are tightly integrated with each other and fulfill four main tasks: immunological recognition, immune effector functions, immune regulation and immunological memory (Murphy *et al.*, 2008). Cross-regulatory mechanisms between different parts of immune system have been described in several levels of immunity (Boughton *et al.*, 2011; Demas *et al.*, 2011), giving more reasons to believe that maximal immune response is not always optimal. For example, activation of one component of immunity might lead to suppression of another component (Graham *et al.*, 2005). This also means that single measures of immunity are rarely sufficient to capture the complexity of immune response or individual's health state (Demas & Nelson, 2012). In accordance with this, recent works have not concentrated on single measures of immunity, but measured constitutive and induced immune responses from both innate and adaptive sides of immunity (see O'Neal & Ketterson (2012) for review).

Although the traditional view of animal ecologists has been that the costs involved in immune response are mainly energetic (Lochmiller & Deerenberg, 2000: Sheldon & Verhulst, 1996), an alternative hypothesis, proposing that costs of immune responses are primarily caused by the accompanying immunopathological tissue damage, is gathering popularity (Dowling & Simmons, 2009; Sorci & Faivre, 2009). The innate immune system protects the organism by producing reactive oxygen species in a process called oxidative burst (Murphy et al., 2008). These oxygen species are highly reactive and destroy pathogens by damaging their biomolecules. Reactive species are not pathogenspecific and can also damage host tissues if there are not enough protective antioxidants present (Halliwell & Gutteridge, 2007). Oxidative stress is a situation when the balance of pro-oxidants and antioxidants is shifted towards pro-oxidants, causing oxidative damage to organisms' tissues (Sies, 1997). Oxidative stress is believed to play an important role in senescence, expression of signal traits and sperm performance, hence affecting reproduction and survival (Buttemer et al., 2010; Cohen et al., 2010; Costantini et al., 2010; Hall et al., 2010; Losdat et al., 2011). Therefore, oxidative stress may be one of the mechanisms that link immune function with life-history traits.

### 1.3. Oxidative stress and ecological research of animals

To study the role of oxidative stress as a mediator of life-history trade-offs, the oxidative status of an organism has to be reliably measured and properly interpreted. Similarly to immunoecological research, several approaches and proxies have been used. It is a quite common approach to measure the levels of different antioxidants (Almbro et al., 2011) or overall antioxidant potential of a tissue (Yeum et al., 2004). However, the problem may arise with the interpretation of results (Costantini & Verhulst, 2009). For example, high levels of plasma antioxidant capacity (TAC) is sometimes interpreted as beneficial redox state (Tummeleht et al., 2006), although it could reflect adaptive and compensatory responses to oxidative stress rather than optimal health condition (Hõrak & Cohen, 2010; Prior & Cao, 1999). As an alternative to antioxidant levels, oxidative status can be assessed on the basis of overall oxidative potency of a given specimen (e.g. blood plasma) (Erel, 2005) or on the concentration of individual oxidants (for example Wood et al., 2009). Perhaps the most ecologically relevant approach would be to measure oxidative damage (Halliwell & Whiteman, 2004), since it would reflect the situation when antioxidants have been unable to defend the tissues from oxidants. Depending on studied system, all of these methods have their advantages and disadvantages, but proper understanding of the mechanisms and interpretation possibilities of individual methods is crucial. Finding a combination of biomarkers of oxidative status that can be applied to typical research models is one of the most actual problems of oxidative stress and immune system research.

The main insight of animal ecologists to the biology of oxidative stress comes from avian studies (Costantini, 2008). The increasing interest of avian ecologists in oxidative stress arises partly from the intriguing hypothesis that oxidative status of birds may shape the development of their sexual ornamentation (Lozano, 1994; von Schantz et al., 1999). Most conspicuous avian colors are produced by carotenoids. Although animals cannot synthesize carotenoids de novo, these pigments are extraordinarily common components of the color signals used in sexual communication, signaling between offspring and their parents, and in warning colors (Hill & McGraw, 2006; Møller et al., 2000). Carotenoids are not only used in ornamental coloration, but also for several other functions, for example defense from solar radiation and immunomodulation (McGraw et al., 2011). It is also suggested that carotenoids may act as important antioxidants in organisms (Møller et al., 2000; von Schantz et al., 1999). However, the role of carotenoids as antioxidants and immunomodulators has recently been debated (Costantini & Møller, 2008; Hartley & Kennedy, 2004; Pérez-Rodríguez, 2009), partly because the mechanisms by which carotenoids modulate oxidative balance or immunity are poorly known.

Although carotenoids are perhaps the most intensively studied pigments in birds' plumage, the most common pigments are melanins (McGraw, 2006).

Many birds develop melanin-based feather patches that signal mate quality or social dominance (Andersson, 1994; Jawor & Breitwisch, 2003; McGraw, 2003; McGraw, 2006). Unlike carotenoids that are directly obtained from food, melanin pigments in animals are synthesized in specialized cells, called melanocytes. Because of the different processes associated with melanin and carotenoid color production, different factors might be responsible for mediating the honesty of melanin-based signal traits compared with carotenoid colors (McGraw, 2008). An idea that similarly to carotenoids, melanin pigments can also potentially function as antioxidants has lately reached the ecological literature (Griffith *et al.*, 2006; Moreno & Møller, 2006).

There are also other pathways that may possibly link melanin-based signals to oxidative status of a bird. First, melanogenesis is an oxidative process that may act as a potential source of reactive oxygen species (Smit *et al.*, 2008). Second, an interesting new hypothesis suggests that since the key intracellular antioxidant— glutathione (GSH) — inhibits eumelanogenesis, eumelanin-based black ornaments may signal the bearer's ability to cope with oxidative stress (Galván & Alonso-Alvarez, 2008). According to the honest advertisement hypothesis (Zahavi, 1975), only those individuals who manage to keep their oxidative stress level under control without high levels of GSH are able to produce eumelanin-based ornaments. However, the links between oxidative damage, systemic GSH levels, and melanin- and carotenoid-based feather coloration are not yet clearly established.

#### 1.4. Aims of the thesis

The main aims of current thesis were (1) to assess the suitability and utility of several widely used methods in ecological research of immunity and oxidative balance systems, and (2) to study some of the most intriguing questions in avian immunoecology. In the first part, I tested the long-term impact of a classic immunoecological technique (PHA skin test), correlations between several indexes of oxidative status and their repeatability in time, and the suitability of wild-caught captive greenfinches for ecophysiological research. In the second part, I studied the association between carotenoids and immune function, oxidative costs of mounting an immune response, and the information content of plumage coloration.

In the first study, I tested the effect of a common immunostimulant on leukocyte profiles of greenfinches. Leukocyte profiles are easily measurable, yet informative health state indices, reflecting the current investment in immune defense (Dein *et al.*, 1986) or stress level (Davis *et al.*, 2008). To study the trade-offs between immune function and other vital functions, ecologists need simple and reliable methods that make it possible to assess the immune function of an organism. Because of its ease of use in the field, the most widely used immunological method in avian studies is the phytohaemagglutinin (PHA) skin

test (Martin *et al.*, 2006). PHA is a plant lectin which functions in plants as an antimicrobial and anti-herbivore toxin. Subcutaneous injection of PHA to animals produces a localized swelling response involving local infiltration of tissue by most types of immune cells. The magnitude of this swelling is widely used as an indicator of immunocompetence or general health state (Tella *et al.*, 2008), although it has been argued that more swelling might not always show better health (Martin *et al.*, 2006). Although this method has been widely used for several decades, the mechanisms involved in producing the response to PHA and its long-term impact to organism's physiology are poorly known. Accordingly, I tested the long-lasting physiological impact of PHA on leukocyte profiles of greenfinches (**Paper I**).

In the next study, I continued my methodological investigation with several widely used indices of oxidative status. Reactive oxygen species production is a consequence of cellular metabolism and immune responses. Therefore, oxidative stress might be a proximate mechanism responsible for the emergence of trade-offs related to the evolution of life-history (Monaghan et al., 2009). To answer ecological questions about the role of oxidative stress, it is crucial to find a combination of biomarkers of oxidative status that can be applied to typical wild animal models such as small birds. These biomarkers should be tested for confounding and modifying factors, and for the individual consistency in time (Hõrak & Cohen, 2010). Because of specific restrictions of many ecological research models, such as the availability of only small amounts of blood and the requirement of nonlethality, it is also important to be aware of covariation between biomarkers in order to avoid measurement of redundant parameters (Costantini et al., 2011). The aim of my second study was to describe covariation, individual consistency and sensitivity to changes in oxidative stress level of eight widely used parameters of oxidative status (**Paper II**).

The majority of immunoecological research, especially development and adjustment of novel methods, is carried out under laboratory conditions. In addition to individual consistency of studied parameters, it is also important to know how different parameters are affected by captivity, if one wants to generalize the information obtained from studying captive animals to natural situations. The few previous studies about the effect of captivity on the physiology of birds have yielded contradictory results. In some occasions, confinement of wild birds to captivity has considerably increased their stress levels (Ruiz et al., 2002), at the same time, other species show stress levels comparable with or even lower than in the nature (Buehler et al., 2008; Ewenson et al., 2001; Piersma et al., 2000). It is possible that some bird species tolerate captivity better than others; therefore, it is important to test the effects of captivity on classical model species. Accordingly, in the third study, I compared various hematological condition parameters between wintering wild greenfinches and greenfinches that had been kept in indoor aviaries for different periods of time, analyzing also the diurnal variation of studied parameters (Paper III).

To evaluate the costs and individual variation of immune responses, it is important to find model systems that reflect the situation in the nature and are easy to manipulate under experimental conditions. One of such systems is the coccidiosis infection in greenfinches. Coccidians are directly transmitted protozoans that cause massive production loss in poultry industry (Zhu et al., 2000) and affect fitness in wild birds (reviewed by Horak et al., 2004; Pap et al., 2011). All greenfinches that have been examined in our laboratory have been naturally infected with this parasite and the infection levels are easily traceable. In the Paper IV, I used the greenfinch coccidiosis model to assess the effect of three different manipulations on infection levels. First, I investigated how dietary carotenoid supplementation affects the dynamics of natural infection. The association between carotenoids and immune function is one of the most intriguing questions in immunoecology. The link between carotenoidbased ornamentation and immune function was first suggested by Lozano (1994) and later developed by von Schantz et al. (1999). Experimental studies assessing the role of carotenoids in immune response have produced contradicting results. Assessing the ability of carotenoids to affect real infections (compared with responses to artificial antigens or non-specific immune parameters) might help to understand the potential health benefits of these pigments. Other manipulations – immune suppression and immune activation – were performed in order to amplify the potential effects of carotenoid supplementation. I tested whether possible immunostimulatory effects of carotenoids would emerge when immune system is suppressed by a synthetic corticosteroid. dexamethasone (DEX), and whether priming of immune system with phytohaemagglutinin (PHA) would induce stronger immune response against coccidiosis.

Continuing with greenfinch coccidiosis, I tested if infection with this parasite causes oxidative damage (Paper V). One of the main concepts in immunoecology is that individual variation in immune responsiveness is caused by the costs of immune responses to the hosts. These costs might involve oxidative damage resulting from the excessive production of reactive oxygen species during immune response. To assess the potential oxidative damage accompanying coccidian infection, I used plasma malondialdehyde (MDA) levels. MDA is an end-product of peroxidative decomposition of unsaturated lipids; it is also mutagenic and cytotoxic and can damage membrane proteins (Halliwell & Gutteridge, 2007). The level of MDA is often considered as a presumptive marker of oxidative stress. In addition to assessing the effects of experimental treatment and reinfection to MDA levels, I also tested whether higher individual plasma levels of MDA are associated with better resistance to infection, because birds use oxidative destruction of parasites to control infection level.

In the final case study (Paper VI) I added another important pigment – melanin – to my scope, asking what kind of information carotenoid- and melanin-based plumage ornaments might convey. There has been much interest and controversy over the factors that keep carotenoid- and melanin-based

ornaments reliable as signals of individual quality (Griffith *et al.*, 2006; McGraw, 2008). Both types of pigments are claimed to be sensitive to oxidative stress (Griffith *et al.*, 2006; Moreno & Møller, 2006). To test the new hypothesis about the role of an important intracellular antioxidant, glutathione (GSH) in the development of melanin-based ornaments (Galván & Alonso-Alvarez, 2008), I manipulated dietary carotenoids and systemic GSH levels, and recorded the effects of these treatments upon coloration of feathers grown during experiment. To clarify how these treatments affect oxidative status of birds, I monitored changes in different health state indices, including a measure of oxidative damage, MDA, during the experiment.

### 2. MODEL SYSTEM

In immunoecological research, trade-offs are not reserved only to organisms' physiology. The necessity to give up something in order to gain in other areas comes also up in designing the studies. If we want to extrapolate the results obtained in the laboratory to the real world, the experimental conditions should be kept as close to natural situation as possible. At the same time, to establish causal links, the model systems should be kept as simple as possible. This is complicated in natural environments, where numerous factors are simultaneously affecting the studied variables. If we gain on generalization potential, we may lose in reliability of interpretation and vice versa. As a compromise, I have used wild species and natural infections in my studies, but conducted the experiments in laboratory, which allows keeping the environmental conditions homogenous and enables constant monitoring. Therefore, my model system composes of wild-caught captive greenfinches that are naturally infected with coccidian parasites.

Greenfinches are medium-sized (ca 28 g), sexually dichromatic gregarious seed-eating passerines native to western Palearctic region. Their melanin- and carotenoid-based plumage makes them good model species for studying the honesty of signal traits. Males are larger and more colorful than females, with older males developing olive-green plumage on the back, bright or greenish yellow colour on the breast, and striking yellow markings on the primaries, primary coverts and sides of the tail feathers (Cramp & Perrins, 1994). Females are more olive-brown and yellowish-buff, having faint brown streaks on back and lacking full yellow tints in their plumage (Cramp & Perrins, 1994). Carotenoid-based plumage coloration of male greenfinches is sexually selected (Eley, 1991) and sensitive to infections (Lindström & Lundström, 2000; Merilä et al., 1999). Greenfinches tolerate captivity easily and have often been used as a model of passerine species in ecophysiological research (for example Aguilera & Amat, 2007; Lilliendahl, 2000; Lindström et al., 2001; Peters et al., 2008; Sild et al., 2011).

In birds, intestinal coccidiosis is one of the most easily traceable natural infections. Coccidians are directly transmitted protozoans of the genus Isospora that cause massive production loss in poultry industry (e.g., Allen & Fetterer, 2002a; Zhu *et al.*, 2000) and affect fitness in wild birds (reviewed by Hõrak *et al.*, 2004; Pap *et al.*, 2011). These obligate intracellular parasites inhabit the intestinal epithelium and inhibit the uptake of essential dietary components, including fat-soluble antioxidants such as vitamin E and carotenoids (Allen & Fetterer, 2002b; Hõrak *et al.*, 2004). All of the greenfinches that have been examined in our laboratory have been naturally chronically infected with coccidians, therefore we can assume that some kind of tolerance has evolved. At the same time, the pathogenicity (which can ultimately lead to host's death) of Isosporan coccidiosis is well documented (Box, 1977; Giacomo *et al.*, 1997; Sironi, 1994) and it is likely that these parasites have been an important

evolutionary force for greenfinches. Coccidiosis of wild birds is becoming an increasingly popular model of parasite-mediated selection, particularly in the context of carotenoid-based ornaments and oxidative stress ecology (for example Baeta *et al.*, 2008; Hõrak *et al.*, 2004; Pap *et al.*, 2009; Pap *et al.*, 2011).

### 3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

# 3.1. Testing the long-term impact of PHA on leukocyte profiles

In the first paper I tested the long-term impact of a phytohaemagglutinin on leukocyte profiles of captive greenfinches. PHA skin test is a classic immuno-ecological technique: subcutaneous injection of PHA induces localized swelling response and the magnitude of this response is widely used as an indicator of immunocompetence (Tella *et al.*, 2008) and inflammation (Martin *et al.*, 2006). Since this plant lectin activates immune system, it has also been used in studies trying to assess the physiological costs of mounting an immune response (Costantini & Dell'Omo, 2006; Martin *et al.*, 2003; Perez-Rodriguez *et al.*, 2008). These and several other studies have shown that activation of immune system in response to PHA injection is costly to the organism, although in relatively short time scale (24 to 72 hours). However, there is some reason to expect long-term impact of PHA on animal physiology (Hõrak *et al.*, 2000). Here I measured the change in greenfinch leukocyte profiles up to 30 days after PHA injection.

To assess the health state of the birds, four leukocytic parameters were assessed: total white blood cell count (WBC), heterophil concentration, lymphocyte concentration, and heterophil/lymphocyte ratio (H/L). Leukocytosis and heterophilia can be associated with localized or systemic infections caused by a wide spectrum of infectious agents and noninfectious etiologies (for example injuries, toxicities, stress) (Campbell & Ellis, 2007). H/L ratio is considered a reliable indicator of stress level in birds (Davis *et al.*, 2008).

Six captive greenfinches were injected in the wing web with PHA solution, at the same time control group (7 birds) received saline solution injection. For counting leukocytes, blood smears were prepared on the day of injections, three days after injections, and thirty days after injections. Three days after injections, heterophil concentrations and H/L ratio increased both in control and experimental group, but more among PHA-injected birds. The impact of PHA was even more pronounced thirty days after injections, when heterophil counts of PHA injected birds were still 29% higher than those of saline-injected controls. At the same time the difference between PHA- and saline-injected birds in H/L ratios was 37%. Post-injection values of total leukocyte count or lymphocyte concentration did not differ between treatment groups, so the elevated H/L level arises mainly from the increase of heterophil concentration.

Why does PHA cause prolonged heterophilia? Several different physiological explanations are possible. The most likely cause would be an inflammatory response, mediated by pro-inflammatory cytokines. These cytokines mediate changes in glucocorticoids, acute-phase proteins, and recruit monocytes and heterophils from the bone marrow (Leshchinsky & Klasing, 2001). Elevated heterophil levels may be harmful for the organism, damaging host

tissues in the process of oxidative burst and degranulation (Harmon, 1998). Although I cannot confirm that the observed change in leukocytic parameters implied serious long term health impact, it would be important to consider the possible long-term impact of PHA injections to immune system when PHA skin test is used in studies monitoring changes in individual physiological condition.

### 3.2. Investigating the measures of oxidative status

The aim of my second study was to describe covariation and individual consistency of different parameters of oxidative status in greenfinches. A prevailing paradigm in biomedical research is that the oxidative status of an individual can be evaluated based on the composition of its body fluids and tissues. Implementing these approaches to ecological research has generated considerable confusion, mainly because of the difficulties of interpretation (Isaksson *et al.*, 2011), and so far, there is no agreement on what parameters should be measured in typical model species of animal ecology and how the obtained results should be interpreted.

I included 56 greenfinches and eight widely used indexes of oxidative status in my study. These include two markers of plasma antioxidant potential – total antioxidant capacity (TAC) and oxygen radical absorbance (OXY) - and concentrations of one lipophilic (carotenoids) and two hydrophilic (uric acid and ascorbate) antioxidants in plasma. From the erythrocytes, I measured concentration of total glutathione (GSH) – a thiol tripeptide, which is considered a key intracellular antioxidant - and superoxide dismutase (SOD; an enzymatic antioxidant) activity. For the assessment of oxidative damage, plasma malondialdehyde (MDA) levels were used, measured by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). MDA is an end product of peroxidative decomposition of unsaturated lipids; it is also mutagenic and cytotoxic, can damage membrane proteins (Halliwell & Gutteridge, 2007), and is often considered a presumptive marker of OS (e.g., Mateos et al., 2005). I asked whether any of the measured parameters correlate with each other and are individually consistent in time (measured over 8- and 16-day period). Additionally, I controlled if the measured parameters would be sensitive to manipulation of oxidative status of birds with a synthetic mimetic of the antioxidants superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase. This manipulation was expected to indicate which of the studied biomarkers are most sensitive to experimental reduction of systemic ROS levels.

Three of the six parameters of oxidative status – TAC and carotenoids in plasma and GSH in erythrocytes – were individually consistent over the 8-d period, while none of the variables were significantly correlated over 16 d. Therefore, studies considering the long-term aspects of wellbeing or components of fitness should prefer measurement of individually more stable traits like carotenoids, TAC, and GSH to measurement of MDA, OXY, and uric acid.

However, caution is required in extrapolating these findings to other species (for example, see Saino *et al.*, 2011). Because our sample sizes enabled us to detect only medium and high effect sizes for most of the traits, we cannot exclude the possibility that smaller but still biologically important long-term repeatabilities of studied traits exist.

None of the parameters of oxidative status correlated significantly with others. This suggests that all of these biomarkers contain potentially unique information and none of the studied parameters should be considered redundant when composing a battery of markers for the assessment of oxidative status of individuals. Such correlations can again depend on the taxon, ecology, and diet of the studied species (Cohen *et al.*, 2009).

Treatment with a mimetic of SOD and catalase did not affect any parameters of oxidative status or body mass. It is possible that our birds appeared in a good oxidative balance and superior health condition, so that any administration of extra antioxidants would have been redundant. This study leaves open the question of whether the lack of significant associations between the studied variables might have resulted from the generally mild experimental conditions, characterized by lack of oxidative challenges. This reinforces the idea that further studies of the parameters of oxidative status in wild animals would benefit from the experimental induction of oxidative stress.

# 3.3. How are different health state indexes affected by captivity?

The greenfinch is becoming an increasingly popular model species in ecophysiological research not only because of its carotenoid-based plumage components and relatively large size, but also because of its good captivity tolerance. The question about whether and how captivity affects different physiological parameters of greenfinch is therefore of major importance for interpreting the results of such studies. In this study, I compared various hematological condition parameters and peripheral leukocyte concentrations between wintering wild greenfinches and greenfinches that had been kept in indoor aviaries. Additionally, I assessed the diurnal variation of these parameters in order to clarify the importance of this potentially confounding factor.

Blood from captive birds was collected on 32th and 58th day of captivity. On the second occasion, half of the captive birds were bled in the evening, other subset was bled the next morning to assess the diurnal variation in studied parameters. Free-living birds were caught and immediately sampled on the equivalent of 31th day in captivity for captive birds. In addition to leukocytic parameters (total white blood cell count (WBC), heterophil and lymphocyte concentration and heterophil/lymphocyte ratio (H/L)), I also measured body mass, plasma triglyceride, and total protein levels as indicators of nutritional state (Hõrak *et al.*, 1999), and hematocrit as a marker of hydration, work load,

and general health state (Campbell & Dein, 1984; Fair *et al.*, 2007). Considering the increasing interest of animal ecologists to issues related to oxidative stress, I added plasma total antioxidant capacity (TAC) and concentrations of two antioxidants, carotenoids and uric acid, to the assessed parameters.

The most prominent differences between wild and captive greenfinches emerged in plasma uric acid and carotenoid concentrations, which were consistently higher among wild birds. Lower carotenoid levels of captive birds can be ascribed to the low carotenoid content of the diet in captivity, that consists of sunflower seeds (McGraw *et al.*, 2001). This problem can be easily overcome with dietary carotenoid supplementation, which enables the adjustment of the plasma carotenoid concentrations of captive birds to desirable levels (e.g., Aguilera & Amat, 2007). High uric acid levels of wild greenfinches may show that as a result of their unbalanced diet captive birds had to rely on different mechanisms for maintaining their redox balance, depleting their plasma uric acid to a greater extent. Notably, I did not detect any diurnal variation in uric acid or TAC values. This indicates that these parameters seem to be convenient for assessment of variation of physiological condition in birds as a result of a lack of confounding interference of capture time.

Indexes of nutritional state (body mass, plasma triglycerides, and total protein) did not reveal any systematic differences between wild and captive birds. Instead, remarkable diurnal variation was expressed under captive conditions, with higher parameter values in birds sampled in the evening. Such patterns are expected, given that plasma triglyceride levels indicate the amount of lipids absorbed during the few hours before blood sampling (Jenni-Eiermann & Jenni, 1998) and that body mass depends on the amount of food in the alimentary tract.

Hematocrit of wild greenfinches was higher than that of captive birds sampled on day 32 of captivity. After 2 months in captivity, the hematocrit values had further increased, being higher in the morning than in the previous evening. One might assume that wild birds must work harder to find food and maintain body temperature in winter than captive birds. Increase of hematocrit toward the end of the captivity period might relate to increasing day length (13 h at the end of March vs. 10.5 h at the end of February), which leaves more time for physical activity and feeding. Absolute and differential leukocyte concentrations did not reveal any consistent pattern with respect to sampling event. Thus, the data on leukocyte differentials suggest that the confinement of greenfinches to captivity in this study did not cause a detectable increase in stress levels, at least after 1 or 2 months spent in the aviary. These findings, along with those about most of the blood parameters measured in this study, are encouraging with respect to the validity of the physiological data collected in captive birds.

# 3.4. Carotenoids modulate immune response to chronic infection

Links between immune function and carotenoids have been experimentally demonstrated in several bird species, either by the positive effect of carotenoid supplementation or by stimulation of immune system that depleted carotenoid stores (for example Aguilera & Amat, 2007; Fitze et al., 2007; McGraw et al., 2006; Perez-Rodriguez et al., 2008; Stirnemann et al., 2009). Most of these studies have used artificial antigens, which makes interpretation of the results complicated – maximum immune responses are not necessarily optimal or best for an organism as a whole (e.g. Viney et al., 2005) and enhancement of one arm of the immune system may down-regulate another arm (Graham et al., 2005). In this study I assessed the effect of carotenoids on the immune system on functional level, observing the changes in chronic coccidiosis infection intensity in response to three different manipulations - carotenoid supplementation, immune activation and immune suppression. Examining the role of carotenoids in immune response through controlled immune suppression and immune activation experiments has remained so far unexplored. For instance, it may appear that the impact of carotenoids on natural infection levels is detectable only during immune suppression caused by stress or after previous activation of immune system.

93 male greenfinches naturally infected with coccidian parasites were included in the experiment. Carotenoids were administered in three different doses (0 µg/ml for control group, 8 µg/ml and 16 µg/ml for experimental groups), because the physiological and immunomodulatory effects of carotenoids can be dose-dependent (Alonso-Alvarez et al., 2004; Krinsky & Johnson, 2005). Immune system was suppressed with a synthetic corticosteroid, dexamethasone (DEX). In birds, DEX-induced immune suppression has been previously used for studying susceptibility to infections (Huff et al., 1999), validation of immunotoxicological techniques (Smits & Williams, 1999), and manipulation of corticosterone levels (e.g., Rich & Romero, 2005), however, to my knowledge, DEX has been never used to study the immunomodulatory effects of carotenoids. Immune system was activated with phytohaemagglutinin (PHA), a plant lectin that activates the same cytokines that are involved in immune response against coccidiosis (Lillehoj, 1998). To monitor the effects of manipulations, several health state indices were assessed: changes in infection intensity, leukocytic parameters (total white blood cell count (WBC), heterophil and lymphocyte concentration and heterophil/lymphocyte ratio (H/L)), body mass, and swelling response to PHA.

All experimental treatments had clear physiological effects. Dietary carotenoid supplementation increased plasma carotenoid levels. This effect was, however, independent of dietary carotenoid concentration, which may explain the lack of dose-dependent effect of carotenoids on other studied parameters. DEX suppressed T-cell mediated swelling response to PHA and also reduced

body mass and increased peripheral heterophil concentrations. The higher heterophil numbers of the DEX-injected birds can be considered as a generic expression of a stress response, and should not indicate stronger immunity, because DEX has been predicted to cause heterophilia through releasing the heterophils which are normally sequestered against the blood vessel walls into general circulation, while simultaneously blocking the maturation and release of T-cells from their primary and secondary tissues of origin (Smits & Williams, 1999). Immune activation with PHA caused a swelling response and also increased heterophil count. The effect of immune stimulation with PHA on body mass depended on the dietary carotenoids: among un-supplemented birds PHA decreased mass while among the carotenoid-supplemented birds, PHA had no effect on mass. This finding suggests that carotenoid supplementation can extenuate the physiological impact of immune activation.

The main aim of this study was to test for the involvement of carotenoids in modulation of immune response. Carotenoid-supplemented birds did not develop stronger swelling response to PHA than un-supplemented birds, neither did PHA injection deplete plasma carotenoid levels. This result is similar to previous experiments on greenfinches in our laboratory but contradicts five other avian studies using different immunostimulants (reviewed by Perez-Rodriguez et al., 2008). It is possible that the timing of measurement is important in detection of the carotenoid depletion by immune challenge. Treatments with DEX, PHA or carotenoids had no significant main effects on the development of coccidiosis. It seems that the DEX treatment confounded the effects of carotenoids and PHA. This implies that the course of immune response to chronic infections is likely affected by glucocorticoids and the immunosuppressive effects of stress might confound the results of the studies trying to assess the role of carotenoids in immune response. When birds treated with DEX were excluded, it appeared that immune stimulation by PHA suppressed the infection, but only among carotenoid-supplemented birds. Suppression of coccidiosis by PHA may be ascribed to the priming of the immune system by this immunostimulatory protein. The effects of PHA on coccidiosis emerged only among carotenoid-supplemented birds, which supports the concept of anti-parasitic effect of carotenoids (reviewed for example in McGraw et al., 2006).

### 3.5. Coccidian infection causes oxidative damage

A recent hypothesis proposes that the costs of immune responses are primarily caused by the accompanying immunopathological tissue damages (Dowling & Simmons, 2009; Sorci & Faivre, 2009; von Schantz *et al.*, 1999), but the tests of this hypothesis in captive and wild birds have yielded contrasting results (reviewed by Costantini & Møller, 2009). The aim of this study was to test whether experimental infection with coccidians generates oxidative damage in

greenfinches. Plasma malondialdehyde (MDA) levels were used for the assessment of potential oxidative damage. MDA levels were measured by high-performance liquid chromatography, which is considered a more reliable method than the widely used colorimetric TBARS assay (Halliwell & Gutteridge, 2007). Additionally I asked whether higher individual plasma levels of MDA are associated with better resistance to infection. This hypothesis is based on oxidative destruction of Eimerian coccidians in poultry (Allen & Fetterer, 2002a). In addition to changes in infection intensity, I measured plasma antioxidant potential by two corresponding markers (TAC and OXY), body mass, plasma triglycerides and carotenoids in order to monitor antioxidant defences and general physiological and nutritional impact of infection.

All of the birds were infected with isosporan coccidians at capture. At the beginning of the experiment, all birds were treated with an anticoccidian medication, Toltrazuril. Toltrazuril leads to a reduction of enzymes of the respiratory chain of the parasites and it is efficient against all intracellular developmental stages of Eimerian coccidians. At the same time, it does not interfere with development of natural immunity (Darius *et al.*, 2004; Mathis *et al.*, 2003). Subsequently, treatment group was infected orally with sporulated oocysts, while the control group received another round of medication in order to increase differences in infection intensity between control and infected birds. Infection intensities never rose to pre-medication level, presumably because of the lasting effects of pre-experimental treatment with Toltrazuril. Therefore, our experiment enabled us to assess the physiological impact of a mild infection.

During the peak phase of infection, infected greenfinches had on average 8% higher levels of plasma MDA than uninfected birds. It is most likely that higher plasma MDA levels in infected birds indicate oxidative damage generated during the immune response against Isosporan infection. It has been shown that Eimerian infection in domestic chicken induces macrophages to produce superoxide radical (Allen, 1997) and nitric oxide (Lillehoj & Li, 2004), which are toxic to parasites (Min & Lillehoj, 2004). Infection did not reduce body mass, plasma triglycerides and carotenoids, which reinforces the conclusion that oxidative damage primarily resulted from the immune responses rather than from malabsorption of dietary antioxidants. To my knowledge, this is the first evidence of an association between coccidian infection and oxidative damage in a wild animal species. The fact that plasma MDA was the single biochemical variable that responded to experimental infection with generally mild consequences is in accordance with the relevance of the potential immuno-pathological impact of oxidative stress in ecological context.

# 3.6. Oxidative stress and information content of black and yellow plumage coloration

Carotenoids and melanins are two main pigment classes responsible for the colorful plumage of birds. Both types of pigments are claimed to be associated with oxidative stress (Griffith et al., 2006; McGraw, 2005; Moreno & Møller, 2006), although the mechanisms of these links are largely unknown, and in case of melanin, also relatively poorly studied. It has been hypothesized that because a key intracellular antioxidant – glutathione (GSH) – inhibits eumelanogenesis. eumelanin-based black ornaments signal the bearer's ability to cope with oxidative stress (Galván & Alonso-Alvarez, 2008). In this study, I addressed the question about the links between oxidative damage, systemic GSH levels, and melanin- and carotenoid-based feather coloration in captive greenfinches. I tested whether low systemic GSH levels increase and dietary carotenoids decrease oxidative damage to cell membranes by measuring malondialdehyde (MDA) levels. Additionally I tested the effects of manipulating carotenoid and GSH levels on the birds' plumage coloration. Finally, I asked if it is possible to establish any links or trade-offs between carotenoid- and glutathione levels, and in formation of intense yellow (carotenoid-based) and black (eumelanin-based) coloration.

To manipulate carotenoid- and GSH-levels, a 2x2 factorial experiment was performed. Half of the birds received carotenoids in their drinking water and half of the birds were injected with BSO, a synthetic amino acid that inhibits gamma-glutamylcysteine synthetase, thereby depleting cells of GSH. Treatment with BSO suppressed erythrocyte GSH and led to an increase in plasma MDA by 14%. Birds with the highest drop in erythrocyte GSH level generally also had the highest increase in plasma MDA level and lost more weight during the experiment. Loss of body mass can be considered one of the most sensitive indicators of physiological condition in avian studies, which suggests that increased plasma MDA levels in our study indeed reflect unfavorable changes in health state. In addition to increasing oxidative damage, BSO treatment also decreased brightness of black feather tips, presumably by increasing eumelanin synthesis. This result implies that GSH may indeed be one of the mechanisms that maintain eumelanin ornaments as honest signals of quality. According to the honest signaling principle, because GSH depletion implies costs, individuals of low quality would not be able to invest in a eumelanin signal as much as high quality individuals.

As expected, carotenoid supplementation enhanced the chroma of tail feathers regrown during the experiment and there was a strong correlation between plasma carotenoid levels and feather chroma. This implies that carotenoid-based plumage coloration may indeed reflect the bearer's ability to obtain carotenoid-rich food from the environment. As for the hypothesis stating the antioxidant role of carotenoids, the current study fails to support this idea. Contrary to my expectations, carotenoid supplementation did not affect plasma

MDA levels. Neither did manipulation of GSH affect blood carotenoid levels, which would be expected if carotenoids mirror the availability of other antioxidants (as proposed by Hartley and Kennedy (2004)). This result seems compatible with the review by Costantini and Møller (2008), finding little support for antioxidant function of carotenoids in birds. However, most of the studies reviewed in this article used methods that may not reveal the whole extent of antioxidant potential of carotenoids. Thus, so far, there is no sufficient information for either supporting or rejecting the possible antioxidant function of carotenoids in adult birds. This question has to be addressed in further experiments involving manipulation and assessment of different antioxidant systems.

#### **SUMMARY**

Immunoecology is a demanding field of science: binding together two seemingly remote disciplines of ecology and immunology is a challenge. There is no consensus over what immunological (or other) methods would be best for answering ecological questions. Therefore, solving ecological problems must be carried out simultaneously with working out and refining methods, mechanisms and model systems suitable for this multidisciplinary approach. Accordingly, this thesis contributes to the emerging field of immunoecology in two ways: first, it tries to find out and validate methods and model systems suitable for immunoecological studies, and second, it applies these methods to answer some of the most actual questions in this area of research.

First, I tested the long term impact of classical immunoecological technique, subcutaneous injection of PHA, on leukocyte profiles of greenfinches. I found that PHA causes prolonged heterophilia. Although this does not necessarily mean that PHA causes serious long term health impact, this knowledge is important when PHA skin test is applied in studies monitoring changes in individual physiological condition.

Immunoecology is becoming more and more intertwined with studies of oxidative stress ecology. To answer the questions about the role of oxidative stress in immunoecology, it is crucial to find out suitable biomarkers of oxidative status. Accordingly, I described the covariation and consistency of eight widely used indexes of oxidative status. Three of the studied parameters showed individual consistency over 8 day period, but none of the parameters correlated significantly with each other. This might imply that all of the studied parameters contain unique information about the organism's physiology. At the same time, it is possible that the experimental conditions were too mild for any associations to emerge. Therefore, further studies of the parameters of oxidative status in wild animals would benefit from the experimental induction of OS.

Proceeding with the methodological side of my thesis, I tested the suitability of captive greenfinches for ecophysiological research. Since we are still in the early stages of the development of immunoecology as an independent field of science, development and adjustment of novel methods is an important part of the work in this area, and this work is mainly carried out in laboratory conditions. In order to be able to generalize the results obtained from captive animals to natural situations, it is crucial to understand how captivity *per se* affects different health state indexes. I studied the effect of captivity on 12 physiological parameters and found that although some of the parameters seemed to be affected by captivity (mainly indexes that were affected by diet), most were not, and therefore, physiological data collected from captive birds should be valid in other situations as well.

Next, I applied the captive greenfinch model to study one of the most intriguing questions in immunoecology – the possible link between carotenoid-based ornamentation and immune function. I assessed the effect of carotenoids

on the immune system on functional level, observing the changes in chronic coccidiosis infection intensity. A novel aspect of the study involved examination of the role of carotenoids in immune response through controlled immune suppression and immune activation experiments. Immune suppression with a synthetic stress hormone confounded the effects of immune activation and carotenoid supplementation. This finding implies that stress (and possibly variable stress reactivity of different individuals) is a potentially confounding factor in studies trying to assess the role of carotenoids in immune response. Among birds not treated with immune suppressant, immune activation suppressed infection, but only among carotenoid-supplemented birds. The findings about involvement of carotenoids in modulation of immune response against coccidiosis suggest that such research has great potential in explaining why yellow, orange and red animal colouration has evolved.

The greenfinch coccidiosis model is also applicable for investigating the associations between immune function and oxidative stress. When infection levels were experimentally manipulated, it came clear that coccidian infection causes oxidative damage in greenfinches. Since coccidians themselves do not generate reactive species in the course of infection, it is most probable that oxidative damage resulted from the immune responses of the host. This finding supports the understanding that immune responses are costly and that these costs may arise primarily as accompanying tissue damage. This study is the first evidence of an association between coccidian infection and oxidative damage in a wild bird species.

Since the plumage of greenfinches contains both carotenoid- and melaninbased ornaments, this species can also be applied as a model for studying the mechanisms that keep signal traits honest. Both types of pigments are claimed to be associated with oxidative stress, either as antioxidants, or as indicators of the levels of other antioxidants. By manipulating the levels of dietary carotenoids and glutathione (a key intracellular antioxidant that suppresses the production of the black pigment eumelanin), I tested the associations between plumage ornaments and oxidative status of the birds. Suppressing glutathione levels resulted with oxidative damage to cell membranes, simultaneously increasing the darkness of black feather tips. This finding implies that since GSH depletion is costly in terms of oxidative damage, only high quality individuals can afford to produce dark feather tips. Eumelanin-based plumage might therefore serve as an honest signal of individual quality. At the same time, although dietary carotenoid supplementation enhanced the chroma of yellow feather patches, it did not prevent oxidative tissue damage. This study fails to support the idea of carotenoids as active antioxidants. Despite decades of intense work, the question what exactly is being signaled by carotenoid ornaments is still very much open.

In conclusion, studying captive greenfinches seems to be a promising approach for answering many intriguing questions in immunoecology. Their good captivity tolerance allows studying a wild species in controlled laboratory

conditions. Their plumage ornaments allow studying honesty of signal traits. Their common infection with coccidians is easy to follow and manipulate, making them good models for studying the costs of immune activation and the associations between immune system and other traits. At the same time, although some model systems and methods might seem to be widely accepted and technically completed, work with old and new methods must always continue in order to find possible flaws, better interpretation possibilities and new solutions. Continuous methodological work will eventually help to bind together immunology and ecology, and this synthesis will enable scientists to find solutions to many questions that both disciplines separately would fail to answer.

#### **SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN**

# Rohevintide hematoloogilised tervisenäitajad: individuaalse varieeruvuse põhjused ja vastused immuunsüsteemi manipuleerimisele

Individuaalne varieeruvus vastuvõtlikkuses haigustele on väga suur. Selle varieeruvuse põhjuste väljaselgitamine on viimasel ajal muutunud võtmeküsimuseks, kuna on selge, et parasiitide rolli evolutsioonilise jõuna ei tasu alahinnata. Parasiitne eluviis on väga levinud – pole olemas liiki, kes poleks parasiitidega nakatunud, ning paljud parasiidid on liigispetsiifilised. Sellest järeldub, et valdav enamus Maal elavatest liikidest on parasiidid. Et sellise mitmekesise ründajate hulgaga toime tulla, on organismidel välja arenenud võrdväärselt keeruline ja mitmekesine kaitsemehhanism – immuunsüsteem. Nii immuunsüsteemi väljaarendamine, löögivalmis hoidmine kui ka rakendamine nõuab organismilt ressursse. Kuna looduses on ressursid enamasti piiratud. saavad parasiitidega võitlemiseks kulutatud ressursid (nii energeetilised kui ainelised) tulla vaid muude elutähtsate funktsioonide (nagu näiteks kasv. sigimine, oksüdatiivse stressi vastane kaitse, signaaltunnuste väljaarendamine) arvelt. See arusaam on pannud aluse uuele teadusharule – immuunökoloogiale. Immuunökoloogia eesmärgiks on välja selgitada mehhanismid, mis seovad immuunsüsteemi teiste elutähtsate funktsioonidega ja seletada selle kaudu looduslikes populatsioonides esinevat varieeruvust vastuvõtlikkuses haigustele. Nende eesmärkide saavutamiseks kasutatakse selles multidistsiplinaarses teadusharus meetodeid nii immunoloogia, ökoloogia, parasitoloogia, füsioloogia kui ka mitmete teiste teadusharude arsenalist.

Kui vaadelda immuunsüsteemi kogu organismi kontekstis, arvestades ka teiste elutähtsate funktsioonidega, võib aru saada, miks organismid haigustega võitlemiseks alati maksimaalset pingutust ei tee ja miks vastuvõtlikkus haigustele populatsioonide siseselt nii suures ulatuses varieerub. Immuunvastusel on oma hind ning see, kui suures osas organism on valmis või võimeline seda hinda maksma, võib oleneda väga erinevatest organismisisestest ja -välistest teguritest. Kuigi immuunvastuse hinna olemasolu on praeguseks valdavalt aktsepteeritud, pole veel kaugeltki selge, milles see hind väljendub ja millised mehhanismid immuunvastuse hinna teiste tunnustega seovad. Kui varasemad uurimused peavad immuunvastuse hinnaks eelkõige energia- ja toitainete kulu, siis uuemates töödes on välja pakutud oksüdatiivsete kahjustuste hüpotees. Selle hüpoteesi kohaselt on kulukas eelkõige immuunvastuse rakendamine – parasiite hävitades paiskavad immuunsüsteemi rakud välja reaktiivseid osakesi, mis valimatult kahjustavad nii sissetungijaid kui ka organismi enda rakke. Immuunvastuse hinna mõõtmine on aga keeruline ülesanne, mida raskendavad nii puudulikud teadmised immuunsüsteemi tööst kui ka raskused sobivate meetodite leidmisel organismile reaalselt kuluka oksüdatiivse stressi taseme hindamiseks.

Oksüdatiivne stress on olukord, kus reaktiivsete osakeste ja neid kahjutuks muutvate antioksüdantide tasakaal organismis on paigast ära ja see viib koekahjustuste tekkele. Oksüdatiivne stress võiks olla üks mehhanismidest, mis vahendab erinevaid elukäiguomaduste ja signaaltunnustega seonduvaid lõivsuhteid, kuid selle hüpoteesi tõestamiseks on vaja usaldusväärseid meetodeid oksüdatiivse stressi mõõtmiseks. Selliste meetodite väljatöötamine ja kontrollimine ökoloogiliste uuringute mudelsüsteemides on käimasolev ja aktuaalne protsess.

Loomaökoloogias on linnud kujunenud peamisteks mudelorganismideks oksüdatiivse stressi uurimisel. Linnu-uurijate suur huvi oksüdatiivse stressi vastu võib tuleneda hüpoteesist, mille kohaselt linnu oksüdatiivne staatus mõjutab tema sulestikuornamentide väljakujunemist. Neid ornamente kasutatakse signaaltunnustena nii paarilise valikul kui ka sotsiaalse hierarhia paikapanemisel. Peamised lindude sulestikus kasutatavad pigmendid on karotenoidid ja melaniinid, mis mõlemad võivad olla seotud oksüdatiivse stressiga. Toidust saadavad pigemendid karotenoididel osalevad väidetavalt nii immuunsüsteemi töös kui ka oksüdatiivse stressi ennetamises, kuigi selged tõendid mõlema funktsiooni kohta puuduvad. Melaniini tootmine toimub organismisiseselt ning võib iseenesest olla reaktiivseid osakesi tekitav protsess, lisaks võib ka melaniinil olla antioksüdantseid omadusi. Uue hüpoteesi kohaselt sõltub melaniini tootmine ka kõige levinuma rakusisese antioksüdandi glutatiooni tasemest.

Käesoleva töö eesmärkideks oli (1) kontrollida mõnede laialt kasutusel olevate meetodite sobivust ning rakendamisvõimalusi immuunökoloogilistes uuringutes ning (2) leida vastuseid viimasel ajal kerkinud aktuaalsetele immuunökoloogilistele küsimustele. Töö esimeses pooles uurisin lindude immuunökoloogias immuunsüsteemi töö hindamiseks laialt kasutusel oleva meetodi (PHA süstimine) pikajalisi mõjusid, erinevate oksüdatiivse staatuse parameetrite ajalist varieeruvust ning omavahelisi korrelatsioone ning vangistuses elavate rohevintide sobivust immuunökoloogiliste uuringute jaoks. Töö teises osas uurisin karotenoidide rolli immuunvastuse reguleerimises, immuunvastuse oksüdatiivset hinda ning karotenoidsetes ja melaniinsetes sulestikuornamentides sisalduvat informatsiooni. Oma töös kasutasin mudelorganismina loodusest püütud rohevinte.

Kuigi fütohemaglutiniini (PHA) süstimise tulemusena tekkiv paistetus on juba aastakümneid laialt kasutusel rakulise immuunsuse efektiivsuse hindamiseks, pole selle meetodi pikaajalist mõju lindudele uuritud. Artiklis 1 uurisin PHA süstimise mõju 3 ja 30 päeva peale manipulatsiooni. Tervisenäitajatena kasutasin leukotsüütide kontsentratsiooni veres. Nende abil saab lindudel hinnata nii immuunsüsteemi aktiveerimist kui ka stressitaset. Leidsin, et PHA süstimine põhjustas pikaajalise heterofiilide (kaasasündinud immuunsüsteemi mittespetsiifilised rakud) kontsentratsiooni tõusu, mis võib viidata kauakestvale põletikureaktsioonile. Selline seisund võib olla organismile kahjulik, kuna heterofiilide poolt välja paisatud reaktiivsed osakesed kahjustavad ka organismi

enda kudesid. Seda tulemust tuleb edaspidi arevsse võtta, kui PHA-testi soovitakse kasutada pikemaajalistes loomade konditsiooni hindavates uuringutes.

Teises artiklis uurisin mõnede laialt kasutusel olevate oksüdatiivse staatuse näitajate ajalist korduvust ning omavahelisi korrelatsioone. Organismi oksüdatiivse staatuse hindamiseks oleks ideaalne kasutada võimalikult paljusid erinevaid näitajaid, et saada sellest ülimalt keerulisest ja mitmetahulisest süsteemist adekvaatne pilt. Samas on loomalt võetavate proovide hulk alati piiratud, eriti loomaökoloogia mudelorganismideks olevatel loomadel, kes on enamasti väiksed ja kelle surmamist katse käigus tuleks vältida. Seetõttu on hädavajalik töötada välja näitajate kogum, mis annaks võimalikult ülevaatliku pildi organismi tööst, kuid mille hulgas poleks korduvaid ja samasisulisi näitajaid. Mõõtsin kaheksat erinevat parameetrit, mille hulgas oli nii üksikuid antioksüdante, indekseid plasma üldise antioksüdantsuse mõõtmiseks kui ka üks oksüdatiivsete kahiustuste marker. Ükski uuritud näitajatest omavahel ei korreleerunud, mis viitab, et kõik mõõdetud parameetrid sisaldavad unikaalset informatsiooni ning rõhutab veelkord ohtu üle tõlgendada üksikuid mõõdetud parameetreid ja vajadust mõõta võimalikult paljusid parameetreid. Kolm mõõdetud parameetrit olid lühema ajaperioodi jooksul individuaalselt püsivad. mis näitab nende parameetrite sobivust isendite-vaheliste erinevuste hindamiseks. Pikemaajaline korduvus ajas puudus kõigil mõõdetud parameetritel. Seoste puudumine ja vähene ajaline korduvus võisid osaliselt tuleneda ka valimimahtudest, mis võimaldasid tuvastada vaid tugevaid seoseid.

Kuigi ökoloogilisest aspektist oleks ideaalne uurida loomi nende looduslikus elukeskkonnas, muudab organismi looduses mõjutavate tegurite rohkus selliste uuringute tõlgendamise keeruliseks. Alternatiiviks on uurida looduslike liike vangistuses, kuid selleks tuleb olla teadlik vangistuse mõjust loomade tervisele. Kolmandas artiklis uurisin, kuidas mõjutab vangistus rohevintide tervisenäitajaid, võrreldes vangistuses elavaid linde vabalt elavate lindudega. Kuigi vangistus mõjutas mõnesid uuritud parameetreid (eelkõige looduses ja vangistuses erinevast dieedist tulenevaid näitajaid, mida on edaspidistes uuringutes võimalik reguleerida dieedi täiendamisega), oli enamiku parameetrite tase looduses ja vangistuses sama. Kõige olulisema näitajana ei erinenud stressitaseme indikaator vangistuses ja looduses. Samas esines mõnedes parameetrites ööpäevane varieeruvus, mistõttu proovide võtmise kellaaega tuleb edaspidistes uuringutes kindlasti arvesse võtta. Üldjoontes kinnitas see uuring vangistuses elavate rohevintide sobivust immuunökoloogilisteks uuringuteks.

Seoseid karotenoidide ja immuunvastuse vahel on uuritud mitmetes teadustöödes ning tulemusi on saadud nii- ja naasuguseid. Enamikus neist on kasutatud kunstlike antigeene, mis ei pruugi peegeldada loodusliku olukorda. Neljandas artiklis uurisin karotenoidide lisatoitmise mõju kroonilisele koktsiidinakkusele. Kuna organismisisesed lõivsuhted ja seosed tulevad sageli esile vaid rasketes oludes, rakendasin karotenoidide rolli uurimiseks kahte lisamanipulatsiooni. Süstides stressihormooni analoogi (deksametasoon, DEX), simuleerisin stressist tingitud immuunsupressiooni. Süstides PHA-d, sain testida

immuunsüsteemi eelneva aktiveerimise mõju. DEX-i süstimine surus immuunsüsteemi töö alla ning muutis segaseks PHA ja karotenoidide mõju nakkusele. Kui DEX-iga süstitud linnud kõrvale jätta, selgus, et immuunsüsteemi aktiveerimine PHA-ga surus nakkuse alla, kuid ainult karotenoide saanud lindudel. Lisaks vähendas karotenoidide lisatoitmine immuunaktivatsioonist põhjustatud kaalukadu. Need tulemused näitavad, et karotenoididel võib tõepoolest olla roll immuunvastuse ja selle hinna kujunemisel, kuid seda rolli mõjutavad mitmed organismisisesed tegurid, mistõttu karotenoidide rolli uurimine immuunvastuses on teadlastele tõsiseks väljakutseks.

Immuunvastusest tulenevad oksüdatiivsed koekahjustused võivad moodustada olulise osa immuunvastuse hinnast. Neljandas artiklis uurisin, kas koktsiidinakkus tekitab rohevintidele oksüdatiivseid kahjustusi. Sellele küsimusele vastamiseks manipuleerisin nakkuse taset, manustades lindudele koktsiidivastast ravimit ning nakatades ühte gruppi seejärel koktsiididega. Kuna nakkuse intensiivsus ei tõusnud ravieelsele tasemele, võib eeldada, et tegemist oli suhteliselt leebe nakkusega. Leidsin, et juba selline nakkus tekitas oksüdatiivseid koekahjustusi. Kuna koktsiidid ise peremeeste ründamiseks reaktiivseid osakesi ei kasuta, tekitasid kahjustusi ilmselt koktsiidide vastu võitlevad immuunsüsteemi rakud. Lindudel, kellel oli rohkem kahjustusi, õnnestus koktsiidinakkuse allasurumine paremini. See tulemus näitab, et oksüdatiivsed kahjustused moodustavad tõepoolest osa immuunvastuse hinnast.

Kui sulestikuornamendid näitavad linnu kvaliteeti, peavad esinema mehhanismid, mis tagavad nende signaalide aususe – kõige uhkemaid ornamente saavad toota vaid kõige kvaliteetsemad isendid. Karotenoidsete ja melaniinsete signaalide aususe tagamiseks on välja pakutud erinevaid hüpoteese. Karotenoidsed ornamendid peegeldavad muuhulgas väidetavalt ka linnu oksüdatiivset staatust – vaid need linnud, kes ei pea karotenoide kasutama antioksüdantidena, saavad need pigmendid paigutada sulgedesse. Melaniinsed ornamendid aga näitavad uue hüpoteesi kohaselt linnu võimet tulla toime oksüdatiivse stressiga, kuna peamise rakusisese antioksüdandi glutatiooni (GSH) kõrge tase surub mustade eumelaniinsete pigmentide tootmist alla. Nende hüpoteeside kontrollimiseks manipuleerisin GSH ja karotenoidide taset lindude veres ja mõõtsin oksüdatiivseid kahjustusi. Glutatiooni allasurumine põhjustas oodatult oksüdatiivseid kahjustusi ning võimendas samal ajal eumelaniinseid sulestikuornamente, mis näitab, et mustad sulestikulaigud näitavad tõepoolest linnu võimet tulla toime oksüdatiivse stressiga. Karotenoidide manustamine muutis suled kollasemaks, kuid ei mõjutanud oksüdatiivseid kahjustusi. Selle uurimuse põhjal ei anna karotenoidsed ornamendid infot linnu võime kohta oksüdatiivse stressiga toime tulla.

Kokkuvõttes võib rohevinte pidada heaks immuunökoloogia mudelorganismiks. Nad taluvad hästi vangistust. Nende sulestikuornamendid võimaldavad uurida signaaltunnuste ausust tagavaid mehhanisme. Kõikidel meie töörühma poolt uuritud rohevintidel esinev krooniline koktsiidinakkus on kergesti jälgitav ja manipuleeritav, mis võimaldab selle mudelsüsteemi abil

uurida immuunvastuse hinna probleeme ning immuunsüsteemi seoseid teiste elutähtsate funktsioonidega. On selge, et koos immuunökoloogia võtmeküsimustele vastuste otsimisega peab paralleelselt toimuma ka meedodite testimine, uurimine ja väljatöötamine. Vaid nii on võimalik ühendada üksteisest pealtnäha kaugel asuvad distsipliinid – immunoloogia ja ökoloogia – ning nende teadusharude integreerimise abil leida vastuseid küsimustele, mida kumbki haru eraldi lahendada ei suudaks.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

My greatest thanks goes to Peeter Hõrak, who is probably the best supervisor in the world – brilliant, highly capable of solving all kinds of scientific problems, at the same time always really supportive and understanding. This kind of leader guarantees the success of all the members of his work group and high quality of science conducted.

I am also grateful to all of the members of our work group. Thanks to Elin Sild for being the mastermind of laboratory work and also such a good friend. Marju Männiste, Ulvi Karu and Richard Meitern have done a great deal of work in the laboratory and been great companions throughout my studies. Lauri Saks, Pirko Jalakas, Martin Pent and many others have helped with bird maintenance and sample collection. Jolanta Vrublevska has done lots of highly appreciated work in the laboratory. Jonathan D Blount, Kalle Kilk and Ursel Soomets were the co-authors of some studies. Thank you all.

Many people have helped with good advice. Thanks to Raivo Mänd for support and all the other members of faculty for interesting discussions on the seminars. Margret Sisask, Triin Lett and Kristel Pärn have helped with administrative questions. Indrikis Krams has always been really helpful and kind. Rita Hõrak has supplied us with laboratory solutions and good advice. Stefaan van Dyck (Kemin Agrifoods Europe) kindly donated OroGlo carptenoid supplement. Toby Patton proof-read the manuscripts.

Like everything in the world of immunoecology, doctoral thesis also comes with a cost. A great part of this cost is paid by my family – Siim, Säde and Hüüp. My sincerest thanks also to Pihel Sarv and Kadi Sarv for being always ready to babysit. My studies would not have been possible without your patience and support.

#### REFERENCES

- Adamo, S. A. & Lovett, M. M. E. (2011). Some like it hot: the effects of climate change on reproduction, immune function and disease resistance in the cricket *Gryllus texensis*. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 214, 1997–2004.
- **Aguilera, E. & Amat, J. (2007).** Carotenoids, immune response and the expression of sexual ornaments in male greenfinches (*Carduelis chloris*). *Naturwissenschaften* **94**, 895–902.
- Allen, P. C. (1997). Production of free radical species during *Eimeria maxima* infections in chickens. *Poultry Science* 76, 814–821.
- Allen, P. C. & Fetterer, R. H. (2002a). Recent advances in biology and immuno-biology of *Eimeria* species and in diagnosis and control of infection with these coccidian parasites of poultry. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 15, 58–65.
- **Allen, P. C. & Fetterer, R. H. (2002b).** Interaction of dietary vitamin E with *Eimeria maxima* infections in chickens. *Poultry Science* **81**, 41–48.
- **Almbro, M., Dowling, D. K. & Simmons, L. W. (2011).** Effects of vitamin E and beta-carotene on sperm competitiveness. *Ecology Letters* **14**, 891–895.
- Alonso-Alvarez, C., Bertrand, S., Devevey, G., Gaillard, M., Prost, J., Faivre, B. & Sorci, G. (2004). An experimental test of the dose-dependent effect of carotenoids and immune activation on sexual signals and antioxidant activity. *American Naturalist* 164, 651–659.
- Andersson, M. (1994). Sexual selection. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Baeta, R., Faivre, B., Motreuil, S., Gaillard, M. & Moreau, J. (2008). Carotenoid trade-off between parasitic resistance and sexual display: an experimental study in the blackbird (*Turdus merula*). *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 275, 427–434.
- Belloni, V., Faivre, B., Guerreiro, R., Arnoux, E., Bellenger, J. & Sorci, G. (2010). Suppressing an anti-inflammatory cytokine reveals a strong age-dependent survival cost in mice. *PLoS ONE* 5.
- **Boughton, R. K., Joop, G. & Armitage, S. A. O. (2011).** Outdoor immunology: methodological considerations for ecologists. *Functional Ecology* **25**, 81–100.
- Box, E. D. (1977). Life-cycles of 2 isospora species in canary, *Serinus canarius Linnaeus*. *Journal of Protozoology* **24**, 57–67.
- Buehler, D. M., Piersma, T. & Irene Tieleman, B. (2008). Captive and free-living red knots *Calidris canutus* exhibit differences in non-induced immunity that suggest different immune strategies in different environments. *Journal of Avian Biology* **39**, 560–566.
- **Buttemer, W. A., Abele, D. & Costantini, D. (2010).** From bivalves to birds: oxidative stress and longevity. *Functional Ecology* **24**, 971–983.
- Campbell, T. W. & Dein, F. J. (1984). Avian hematology the basics. *Veterinary Clinics of North America-Small Animal Practice* 14, 223–248.
- Campbell, T. W. & Ellis, C. (2007). Avian and exotic animal hematology and cytology, 3 edn. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Cohen, A., McGraw, K. & Robinson, W. (2009). Serum antioxidant levels in wild birds vary in relation to diet, season, life history strategy, and species. *Oecologia* 161, 673–683.

- Cohen, A. A., De Magalhães, J. P. & Gohil, K. (2010). Ecological, biomedical and epidemiological approaches to understanding oxidative balance and ageing: what they can teach each other. *Functional Ecology* 24, 997–1006.
- **Costantini, D. & Dell'Omo, G. (2006).** Effects of T-cell-mediated immune response on avian oxidative stress. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology* **145**, 137–142.
- **Costantini, D. (2008).** Oxidative stress in ecology and evolution: lessons from avian studies. *Ecology Letters* **11**, 1238–1251.
- Costantini, D. & Møller, A. P. (2008). Carotenoids are minor antioxidants for birds. *Functional Ecology* 22, 367–370.
- Costantini, D. & Møller, A. P. (2009). Does immune response cause oxidative stress in birds? A meta-analysis. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology* **153**, 339–344.
- Costantini, D. & Verhulst, S. (2009). Does high antioxidant capacity indicate low oxidative stress? *Functional Ecology* **23**, 506–509.
- Costantini, D., Rowe, M., Butler, M. W. & McGraw, K. J. (2010). From molecules to living systems: historical and contemporary issues in oxidative stress and antioxidant ecology. *Functional Ecology* 24, 950–959.
- Costantini, D., Monaghan, P. & Metcalfe, N. B. (2011). Biochemical integration of blood redox state in captive zebra finches (*Taeniopygia guttata*). *Journal of Experimental Biology* 214, 1148–1152.
- Cramp, P. & Perrins, C. M. (1994). The Birds of Western Palearctic. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- **Darius, A. K., Mehlhorn, H. & Heydorn, A. O. (2004).** Effects of toltrazuril and ponazuril on the fine structure and multiplication of tachyzoites of the NC-1 strain of *Neospora caninum* (a synonym of *Hammondia heydorni*) in cell cultures. *Parasitology Research* **92**, 453–458.
- **Davis, A. K., Maney, A. K. & Maerz, J. C. (2008).** The use of leukocyte profiles to measure stress in vertebrates: a review for ecologists. *Functional Ecology* **760–772**.
- **Dein, J., Harrison, G. J. & Harrison, W. R. (1986).** Hematology. In Clinical avian medicine, pp. 174–191. London: Saunders Co.
- **Demas, G. E., Adamo, S. A. & French, S. S. (2011).** Neuroendocrine-immune crosstalk in vertebrates and invertebrates: implications for host defence. *Functional Ecology* **25**, 29–39.
- **Demas, G. E. & Nelson, R. J. (2012).** Introduction to ecoimmunology. In Ecoimmunology. Edited by G. E. Demas & R. Nelson. New York: Oxford University Press.
- **Dowling, D. K. & Simmons, L. W. (2009).** Reactive oxygen species as universal constraints in life-history evolution. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **276**, 1737–1745.
- Eley, C. (1991). Status signalling in the western greenfinch (*Carduelis chloris*): University of Sussex.
- Erel, O. (2005). A new automated colorimetric method for measuring total oxidant status. *Clinical Biochemistry* **38**, 1103–1111.
- **Ewenson, E. L., Zann, R. A. & Flannery, G. R. (2001).** Body condition and immune response in wild zebra finches: effects of capture, confinement and captive-rearing. *Naturwissenschaften* **88**, 391–394.
- Fair, J., Whitaker, S. & Pearson, B. (2007). Sources of variation in haematocrit in birds. *Ibis* 149, 535–552.

- Fargallo, J. A., Martinez-Padilla, J., Toledano-Diaz, A., Santiago-Moreno, J. & Davila, J. A. (2007). Sex and testosterone effects on growth, immunity and melanin coloration of nestling Eurasian kestrels. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 76, 201–209.
- Fitze, P. S., Tschirren, B., Gasparini, J. & Richner, H. (2007). Carotenoid-based plumage colors and immune function: is there a trade-off for rare carotenoids? *The American naturalist* 169, S137-S144.
- **Galván, I. & Alonso-Alvarez, C. (2008).** An intracellular antioxidant determines the expression of a melanin-based signal in a bird. *PLoS ONE* **3**, e3335.
- Giacomo, R., Stefania, P., Ennio, T., Giorgina, V. C., Giovanni, B. & Giacomo, R. (1997). Mortality in black siskins (*Carduelis atrata*) with systemic coccidiosis. *Journal of Wildlife Disease* 33, 152–157.
- **Graham, A. L., Allen, J. E. & Read, A. F. (2005).** Evolutionary causes and consequences of immunopathology. *Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics* **36**, 373–397.
- Griffith, S. C., Parker, T. H. & Olson, V. A. (2006). Melanin-versus carotenoid-based sexual signals: is the difference really so black and red? *Animal Behaviour* 71, 749–763
- Hall, M. E., Blount, J. D., Forbes, S. & Royle, N. J. (2010). Does oxidative stress mediate the trade-off between growth and self-maintenance in structured families? *Functional Ecology* 24, 365–373.
- **Halliwell, B. & Whiteman, M. (2004).** Measuring reactive species and oxidative damage in vivo and in cell culture: How should you do it and what do the results mean? *British Journal of Pharmacology* **142**, 231–255.
- Halliwell, B. & Gutteridge, J. M. C. (2007). Free radicals in Biology and Medicine, Fourth Edition edn. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- **Harmon, B. G. (1998).** Avian heterophils in inflammation and disease resistance. *Poultry Science* **77**, 972–977.
- Hartley, R. C. & Kennedy, M. W. (2004). Are carotenoids a red herring in sexual display? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 19, 353–354.
- Hill, G. E. & McGraw, K. J. (2006). Bird Coloration. Volume II. Function and Evolution. Cambridge, MA.: Harvard University Press.
- **Hōrak, P., Jenni-Eiermann, S. & Ots, I. (1999).** Do great tits (*Parus major*) starve to reproduce? *Oecologia* **119**, 293–299.
- Hõrak, P., Ots, I., Tegelmann, L. & Møller, A. P. (2000). Health impact of phyto-haemagglutinin-induced immune challenge on great tit nestlings. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 7, 905–910.
- Hõrak, P., Saks, L., Karu, U., Ots, I., Surai, P. F. & McGraw, K. J. (2004). How coccidian parasites affect health and appearance of greenfinches. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 73, 935–947.
- **Hōrak**, **P. & Cohen**, **A. (2010).** How to measure oxidative stress in an ecological context: methodological and statistical issues. *Functional Ecology* **24**, 960–970.
- Huff, G. R., Huff, W. E., Balog, J. M. & Rath, N. C. (1999). The effect of a second dexamethasone treatment on turkeys previously challenged in an experimental *Escherichia coli* respiratory model of turkey osteomyelitis complex. *Poultry Science* 78, 1116–1125.
- **Isaksson, C., Sheldon, B. C. & Uller, T. (2011).** The challenges of integrating oxidative stress into life-history biology. *BioScience* **61**, 194–202.
- **Jawor, J. M. & Breitwisch, R. (2003).** Melanin ornaments, honesty, and sexual selection. *Auk* **120**, 249–265.

- **Jenni-Eiermann, S. & Jenni, L. (1998).** What can plasma metabolites tell us about the metabolism, physiological state and condition of individual birds? An overview. Biologia e Conservazione della Fauna **102**, 312–319.
- Krinsky, N. I. & Johnson, E. J. (2005). Carotenoid actions and their relation to health and disease. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine* **26**, 459–516.
- **Lee, K. A. (2006).** Linking immune defenses and life history at the levels of the individual and the species. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* **46**, 1000–1015.
- **Leshchinsky, T. V. & Klasing, K. C. (2001).** Relationship between the level of dietary vitamin E and the immune response of broiler chickens. *Poultry Science* **80**, 1590–1599.
- **Lillehoj, H. S. (1998).** Role of T lymphocytes and cytokines in coccidiosis. *International Journal for Parasitology* **28**, 1071–1081.
- **Lillehoj, H. S. & Li, G. (2004).** Nitric oxide production by macrophages stimulated with Coccidia sporozoites, lipopolysaccharide, or interferon-gamma, and its dynamic changes in SC and TK strains of chickens infected with *Eimeria tenella*. *Avian diseases* **48**, 244–253.
- **Lilliendahl, K. (2000).** Daily accumulation of body reserves under increased predation risk in captive Greenfinches *Carduelis chloris*. *Ibis* **142**, 587–595.
- **Lindström, K. & Lundström, J. (2000).** Male greenfinches (*Carduelis chloris*) with brighter ornaments have higher virus infection clearance rate. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **48**, 44–51.
- **Lindström, K., Krakower, D., Lundström, J. O. & Silverin, B. (2001).** The effects of testosterone on a viral infection in greenfinches (*Carduelis chloris*): an experimental test of the immunocompetence-handicap hypothesis. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences* **268**, 207–211.
- **Lochmiller, R. L. & Deerenberg, C. (2000).** Trade-offs in evolutionary immunology: just what is the cost of immunity? *Oikos* **88**, 87–98.
- **Losdat, S., Richner, H., Blount, J. D. & Helfenstein, F. (2011).** Immune activation reduces sperm quality in the great tit. *PLoS ONE* **6**.
- Lozano, G. A. (1994). Carotenoids, parasites and sexual selection. *Oikos* 70, 309–311.
- Lozano, G. A. & Lank, D. B. (2003). Seasonal trade-offs in cell-mediated immunosenescence in ruffs (*Philomachus pugnax*). Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences 270, 1203–1208.
- Martin, L. B., Han, P., Lewittes, J., Kuhlman, J. R., Klasing, K. C. & Wikelski, M. (2006). Phytohemagglutinin-induced skin swelling in birds: histological support for a classic immunoecological technique. *Functional Ecology* 20, 290–299.
- **Martin, L. B. (2009).** Stress and immunity in wild vertebrates: Timing is everything. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* **163**, 70–76.
- Martin, L. B., II, Scheuerlein, A. & Wikelski, M. (2003). Immune activity elevates energy expenditure of house sparrows: a link between direct and indirect costs? *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences* 270, 153–158.
- Mateos, R., Lecumberri, E., Ramos, S., Goya, L. & Bravo, L. (2005). Determination of malondialdehyde (MDA) by high-performance liquid chromatography in serum and liver as a biomarker for oxidative stress: Application to a rat model for hypercholesterolemia and evaluation of the effect of diets rich in phenolic antioxidants from fruits. *Journal of Chromatography B* 827, 76–82.

- Mathis, G. F., Froyman, R., Irion, T. & Kennedy, T. (2003). Coccidiosis control with toltrazuril in conjunction with anticoccidial medicated or nonmedicated feed. *Avian diseases* 47, 463–469.
- McGraw, K. J., Hill, G. E., Stradi, R. & Parker, R. S. (2001). The influence of carotenoid acquisition and utilization on the maintenance of species-typical plumage pigmentation in male American goldfinches (*Carduelis tristis*) and northern cardinals (*Cardinalis cardinalis*). *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* 74, 843–852.
- McGraw, K. J. (2003). Melanins, metals, and mate quality. Oikos 102, 402–406.
- **McGraw, K. J. (2005).** The antioxidant function of many animal pigments: are there consistent health benefits of sexually selected colourants? *Animal Behaviour* **69**, 757–764.
- McGraw, K. J. (2006). Mechanics of melanin-based coloration. In *Bird coloration Mechanisms and measurements*, pp. 243–294. Edited by G. E. Hill & K. J. McGraw. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- McGraw, K. J., Crino, O. L., Medina-Jerez, W. & Nolan, P. M. (2006). Effect of dietary carotenoid supplementation on food intake and immune function in a songbird with no carotenoid coloration. *Ethology* 112, 1209–1216.
- McGraw, K. J. (2008). An update on the honesty of melanin-based color signals in birds. *Pigment Cell & Melanoma Research* 21, 133–138.
- McGraw, K. J., Nolan, P. M. & Crino, O. L. (2011). Carotenoids bolster immunity during moult in a wild songbird with sexually selected plumage coloration. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 102, 560–572.
- Merilä, J., Sheldon, B. C. & Lindström, K. (1999). Plumage brightness in relation to haematozoan infections in the greenfinch *Carduelis chloris*: Bright males are a good bet. *Ecoscience* 6, 12–18.
- Min, W. G. & Lillehoj, H. S. (2004). Review: Application of biotechnological tools for coccidia vaccine development. *Journal of Veterinary Science* 5, 279–288.
- Møller, A. P., Biard, C., Blount, J. D., Houston, D. C., Ninni, P., Saino, N. & Surai, P. F. (2000). Carotenoid-dependent signals: Indicators of foraging efficiency, immunocompetence or detoxification ability? *Avian and Poultry Biology Reviews* 11, 137–159.
- Monaghan, P., Metcalfe, N. B. & Torres, R. (2009). Oxidative stress as a mediator of life history trade-offs: mechanisms, measurements and interpretation. *Ecology Letters* 12, 75–92.
- **Moreno-Rueda, G. (2011).** Trade-off between immune response and body mass in wintering house sparrows (*Passer domesticus*). *Ecological Research* **26**, 943–947.
- Moreno, J. & Møller, A. (2006). Are melanin ornaments signals of antioxidant and immune capacity in birds. *Acta Zoologica Sinica* 52, 202–208.
- Moret, Y. & Schmid-Hempel, P. (2000). Survival for immunity: The price of immune system activation for bumblebee workers. *Science* **290**, 1166–1168.
- Møller, A. P., Martin-Vivaldi, M., Merino, S. & Soler, J. J. (2006). Density-dependent and geographical variation in bird immune response. *Oikos* 115, 463–474.
- Murphy, K., Travers, P. & Walport, M. (2008). Janeway's Immunobiology. New York: Garland Science.
- **O'Neal, D. M. & Ketterson, E. D. (2012).** Life-history evolution, hormones, and avian immune function. In Ecoimmunology. Edited by G. E. Demas & R. J. Nelson. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Pap, P. L., Vagasi, C. I., Czirjak, G. A., Titilincu, A., Pintea, A. & Barta, Z. (2009). Carotenoids modulate the effect of coccidian infection on the condition and immune

- response in moulting house sparrows. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **212**, 3228–3235.
- Pap, P. L., Vagasi, C. I., Czirjak, G. A., Titilincu, A., Pintea, A., Osvath, G., Fulop,
  A. & Barta, Z. (2011). The effect of coccidians on the condition and immune profile of molting house sparrows (*Passer domesticus*). Auk 128, 330–339.
- Perez-Rodriguez, L., Mougeot, F., Alonso-Alvarez, C., Blas, J., Vinuela, J. & Bortolotti, G. R. (2008). Cell-mediated immune activation rapidly decreases plasma carotenoids but does not affect oxidative stress in red-legged partridges (*Alectoris rufa*). *Journal of Experimental Biology* 211, 2155–2161.
- **Pérez-Rodríguez, L. (2009).** Carotenoids in evolutionary ecology: re-evaluating the antioxidant role. *BioEssays* **31**, 1116–1126.
- Peters, A., Delhey, K., Andersson, S., van Noordwijk, H. & Forschler, M. I. (2008). Condition-dependence of multiple carotenoid-based plumage traits: an experimental study. *Functional Ecology* **22**, 831 839.
- **Piersma, T., Reneerkens, J. & Ramenofsky, M. (2000).** Baseline corticosterone peaks in shorebirds with maximal energy stores for migration: a general preparatory mechanism for rapid behavioral and metabolic transitions? *General and Comparative Endocrinology* **120**, 118–126.
- **Prior, R. L. & Cao, G. (1999).** In vivo total antioxidant capacity: comparison of different analytical methods. *Free radical biology & medicine* **27**, 1173–1181.
- Rich, E. L. & Romero, L. M. (2005). Exposure to chronic stress downregulates corticosterone responses to acute stressors. *American Journal of Physiology Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology* **288**, R1628–R1636.
- Ruiz, G., Rosenmann, M., Novoa, F. F. & Sabat, P. (2002). Hematological parameters and stress index in rufous-collared sparrows dwelling in urban environments. Condor 104, 162–167.
- Saino, N., Caprioli, M., Romano, M., Boncoraglio, G., Rubolini, D., Ambrosini, R., Bonisoli-Alquati, A. & Romano, A. (2011). Antioxidant Defenses Predict Long-Term Survival in a Passerine Bird. PLoS ONE 6.
- **Schmid-Hempel, P. (2011).** Evolutionary Parasitology. The Integrated Study of Infections, Immunology, Ecology, and Genetics. New York: Oxford University Press.
- **Sheldon, B. C. & Verhulst, S. (1996).** Ecological immunology: costly parasite defences and trade-offs in evolutionary ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **11**, 317–321.
- Sies, H. (1997). Oxidative stress: Oxidants and antioxidants. *Experimental Physiology* 82, 291–295.
- Sild, E., Sepp, T. & Hōrak, P. (2011). Behavioural trait covaries with immune responsiveness in a wild passerine. *Brain Behavior and Immunity* 25, 1349–1354.
- **Sironi, G. (1994).** Concurrent calicivirus and *Isospora lacazei* infections in goldfinches (*Carduelis carduelis*). *Veterinary Record* **134**, 196–196.
- Smit, N. P. M., Nieuwpoort, F. A., Marrot, L., Out, C., Poorthuis, B., van Pelt, H., Meunier, J. R. & Pavel, S. (2008). Increased melanogenesis is a risk factor for oxidative DNA damage Study on cultured melanocytes and atypical nevus cells. *Photochemistry and Photobiology* 84, 550–555.
- Smits, J. E. & Williams, T. D. (1999). Validation of immunotoxicology techniques in passerine chicks exposed to Oil Sands tailings water. *Ecotoxicology and Environ*mental Safety 44, 105–112.

- **Sorci, G. & Faivre, B. (2009).** Review. Inflammation and oxidative stress in vertebrate host–parasite systems. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **364**, 71–83.
- Stirnemann, I., Johnston, G., Rich, B., Robertson, J. & Kleindorfer, S. (2009). Phytohaemagglutinin (PHA) response and bill-hue wavelength increase with carotenoid supplementation in Diamond Firetails (Stagonopleura guttata). *Emu* 109, 344–351.
- Tella, J. L., Lemus, J. A., Carrete, M. & Blanco, G. (2008). The PHA test reflects acquired T-cell mediated immunocompetence in birds. *PLoS ONE* 3, e3295.
- **Tummeleht, L., Mägi, M., Kilgas, P., Mänd, R. & Hõrak, P. (2006).** Antioxidant protection and plasma carotenoids of incubating great tits (*Parus major* L.) in relation to health state and breeding conditions. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology C* **144**, 166–172.
- Viney, M. E., Riley, E. M. & Buchanan, K. L. (2005). Optimal immune responses: immunocompetence revisited. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 20, 665–669.
- von Schantz, T., Bensch, S., Grahn, M., Hasselquist, D. & Wittzell, H. (1999). Good genes, oxidative stress and condition-dependent sexual signals. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences* 266, 1–12.
- Wood, J. M., Decker, H., Hartmann, H. & other authors (2009). Senile hair graying: H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-mediated oxidative stress affects human hair color by blunting methionine sulfoxide repair. *Faseb Journal* 23, 2065–2075.
- Yeum, K. J., Russell, R. M., Krinsky, N. I. & Aldini, G. (2004). Biomarkers of antioxidant capacity in the hydrophilic and lipophilic compartments of human plasma. *Archives of biochemistry and biophysics* **430**, 97–103.
- **Zahavi**, A. (1975). Mate selection a selection for a handicap. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 53, 205–215.
- Zhu, J. J., Lillehoj, H. S., Allen, P. C., Yun, C. H., Pollock, D., Sadjadi, M. & Emara, M. G. (2000). Analysis of disease resistance-associated parameters in broiler chickens challenged with Eimeria maxima. *Poultry Science* 79, 619–625.
- Zuk, M. & Stoehr, A. M. (2002). Immune defense and host life history. *American Naturalist* 160, 9–22.



## **CURRICULUM VITAE**

Name: Tuul Sepp

Date of birth: 24.01.1984

Citizenship: eesti

Address: Partsi küla, Põlva vald, Estonia, 63217

**Phone:** (+372) 505 2501 **e-mail:** tuul.sepp@gmail.com

Education: University of Tartu magister scientiarum, 2007

Language skills: Estonian (native); English (fluent); German (advanced);

French (beginner); Italian (beginner).

## **Employment history:**

| 2010-2012 | AS BIT, Publishing house Avita, Editor in the field of biology | r |
|-----------|--|---|
|           |  |   |

2001–2009 Estonian Literary Museum, Editor in different projects

2003–2005 Teaduskeskus AHHAA, Mentor, guide

### **Publications**

- **Sepp, T.**, Karu, U., Blount, J., Sild, E., Männiste, M., Hõrak, P. (2012). Coccidian infection causes oxidative damage in greenfinches. PLoS ONE, 7 (5).
- **Sepp, T.**, Sild, E., Blount, J., Männiste, M., Karu, U., Hõrak, P. (2012). Individual consistency and covariation of measures of oxidative status in avian blood. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology, 85 (3).
- Sild, E.; **Sepp, T**. Männiste, M.; Hõrak, P. (2011). Carotenoid intake does not affect immune-stimulated oxidative burst in greenfinches. Journal of Experimental Biology (in press).
- Sild, E.; **Sepp, T**.; Hõrak, P. (2011). Behavioural trait covaries with immune responsiveness in a wild passerine. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 214, 3467–3473.
- **Sepp, T**.; Karu, U.; Sild, E.; Männiste, M.; Hõrak, P. (2011). Effects of carotenoids, immune activation and immune suppression on the intensity of chronic coccidiosis in greenfinches. Experimental Parasitology (in press).
- Hôrak, P.; Sild, E.; Soomets, U.; Sepp, T.; Kilk, K. (2010). Oxidative stress and information content of black and yellow plumage coloration: an experiment with greenfinches. Journal of Experimental Biology, 213, 2225–2233.

- **Sepp, T**..; Sild, E.; Hõrak, P. (2010). Hematological condition indexes in green-finches: effects of captivity and diurnal variation. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology, 83, 276–282.
- **Sarv, T**.; Hõrak, P. (2009). Phytohaemagglutinin injection has a long-lasting effect on immune cells. Journal of Avian Biology, 40, 569–571.

# **ELULOOKIRJELDUS**

Nimi: Tuul Sepp Sünniaeg: 24.01.1984 Kodakondsus: eesti

Aadress: Partsi küla, Põlva vald, Eesti, 63217

**Telefon:** (+372) 505 2501 **e-mail:** tuul.sepp@gmail.com

Haridus: Tartu Ülikool magister scientiarum, 2007

**Keelteoskus:** eesti keel (emakeel); inglise keel (väga hea); saksa keel (kesktase); prantsuse keel (algtase); itaalia keel (algtase).

## Teenistuskäik:

| 2010-2012 | AS BIT, Kirjastus Avita, Bioloogia-alase õppekirjanduse  |
|-----------|--|
|           | toimetaja  |
| 2001-2009 | Eesti Kirjandusmuuseum, Toimetaja erinevates projektides |
| 2003-2005 | Teaduskeskus AHHAA, Giid                                 |

### Publikatsioonide loetelu

- **Sepp, T.**, Karu, U., Blount, J., Sild, E., Männiste, M., Hõrak, P. (2012). Coccidian infection causes oxidative damage in greenfinches. PLoS ONE, 7 (5).
- **Sepp, T.**, Sild, E., Blount, J., Männiste, M., Karu, U., Hõrak, P. (2012). Individual consistency and covariation of measures of oxidative status in avian blood. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology, 85 (3).
- Sild, E.; **Sepp, T**. Männiste, M.; Hõrak, P. (2011). Carotenoid intake does not affect immune-stimulated oxidative burst in greenfinches. Journal of Experimental Biology (in press).
- Sild, E.; **Sepp, T**.; Hõrak, P. (2011). Behavioural trait covaries with immune responsiveness in a wild passerine. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 214, 3467–3473.
- **Sepp, T**.; Karu, U.; Sild, E.; Männiste, M.; Hõrak, P. (2011). Effects of carotenoids, immune activation and immune suppression on the intensity of chronic coccidiosis in greenfinches. Experimental Parasitology (in press).
- Hõrak, P.; Sild, E.; Soomets, U.; **Sepp, T**.; Kilk, K. (2010). Oxidative stress and information content of black and yellow plumage coloration: an experiment with greenfinches. Journal of Experimental Biology, 213, 2225–2233.

- **Sepp, T**..; Sild, E.; Hõrak, P. (2010). Hematological condition indexes in green-finches: effects of captivity and diurnal variation. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology, 83, 276–282.
- **Sarv, T**.; Hõrak, P. (2009). Phytohaemagglutinin injection has a long-lasting effect on immune cells. Journal of Avian Biology, 40, 569–571.

# DISSERTATIONES BIOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. Toivo Maimets. Studies of human oncoprotein p53. Tartu, 1991, 96 p.
- 2. **Enn K. Seppet**. Thyroid state control over energy metabolism, ion transport and contractile functions in rat heart. Tartu, 1991, 135 p.
- 3. **Kristjan Zobel**. Epifüütsete makrosamblike väärtus õhu saastuse indikaatoritena Hamar-Dobani boreaalsetes mägimetsades. Tartu, 1992, 131 lk.
- 4. **Andres Mäe**. Conjugal mobilization of catabolic plasmids by transposable elements in helper plasmids. Tartu, 1992, 91 p.
- 5. **Maia Kivisaar**. Studies on phenol degradation genes of *Pseudomonas* sp. strain EST 1001. Tartu, 1992, 61 p.
- 6. **Allan Nurk**. Nucleotide sequences of phenol degradative genes from *Pseudomonas sp.* strain EST 1001 and their transcriptional activation in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 1992, 72 p.
- 7. Ülo Tamm. The genus *Populus* L. in Estonia: variation of the species biology and introduction. Tartu, 1993, 91 p.
- 8. **Jaanus Remme**. Studies on the peptidyltransferase centre of the *E.coli* ribosome. Tartu, 1993, 68 p.
- 9. Ülo Langel. Galanin and galanin antagonists. Tartu, 1993, 97 p.
- 10. **Arvo Käärd**. The development of an automatic online dynamic fluorescense-based pH-dependent fiber optic penicillin flowthrought biosensor for the control of the benzylpenicillin hydrolysis. Tartu, 1993, 117 p.
- 11. **Lilian Järvekülg**. Antigenic analysis and development of sensitive immunoassay for potato viruses. Tartu, 1993, 147 p.
- 12. **Jaak Palumets**. Analysis of phytomass partition in Norway spruce. Tartu, 1993, 47 p.
- 13. **Arne Sellin**. Variation in hydraulic architecture of *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. trees grown under different environmental conditions. Tartu, 1994, 119 p.
- 13. **Mati Reeben**. Regulation of light neurofilament gene expression. Tartu, 1994, 108 p.
- 14. Urmas Tartes. Respiration rhytms in insects. Tartu, 1995, 109 p.
- 15. **Ülo Puurand.** The complete nucleotide sequence and infections *in vitro* transcripts from cloned cDNA of a potato A potyvirus. Tartu, 1995, 96 p.
- 16. **Peeter Hõrak**. Pathways of selection in avian reproduction: a functional framework and its application in the population study of the great tit (*Parus major*). Tartu, 1995, 118 p.
- 17. **Erkki Truve**. Studies on specific and broad spectrum virus resistance in transgenic plants. Tartu, 1996, 158 p.
- 18. **Illar Pata**. Cloning and characterization of human and mouse ribosomal protein S6-encoding genes. Tartu, 1996, 60 p.
- 19. **Ülo Niinemets**. Importance of structural features of leaves and canopy in determining species shade-tolerance in temperature deciduous woody taxa. Tartu, 1996, 150 p.

- 20. **Ants Kurg**. Bovine leukemia virus: molecular studies on the packaging region and DNA diagnostics in cattle. Tartu, 1996, 104 p.
- 21. **Ene Ustav**. E2 as the modulator of the BPV1 DNA replication. Tartu, 1996, 100 p.
- 22. **Aksel Soosaar**. Role of helix-loop-helix and nuclear hormone receptor transcription factors in neurogenesis. Tartu, 1996, 109 p.
- 23. **Maido Remm**. Human papillomavirus type 18: replication, transformation and gene expression. Tartu, 1997, 117 p.
- 24. **Tiiu Kull**. Population dynamics in *Cypripedium calceolus* L. Tartu, 1997, 124 p.
- 25. **Kalle Olli**. Evolutionary life-strategies of autotrophic planktonic microorganisms in the Baltic Sea. Tartu, 1997, 180 p.
- 26. **Meelis Pärtel**. Species diversity and community dynamics in calcareous grassland communities in Western Estonia. Tartu, 1997, 124 p.
- 27. **Malle Leht**. The Genus *Potentilla* L. in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania: distribution, morphology and taxonomy. Tartu, 1997, 186 p.
- 28. **Tanel Tenson**. Ribosomes, peptides and antibiotic resistance. Tartu, 1997, 80 p.
- 29. **Arvo Tuvikene**. Assessment of inland water pollution using biomarker responses in fish *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Tartu, 1997, 160 p.
- 30. **Urmas Saarma**. Tuning ribosomal elongation cycle by mutagenesis of 23S rRNA. Tartu, 1997, 134 p.
- 31. **Henn Ojaveer**. Composition and dynamics of fish stocks in the gulf of Riga ecosystem. Tartu, 1997, 138 p.
- 32. **Lembi Lõugas**. Post-glacial development of vertebrate fauna in Estonian water bodies. Tartu, 1997, 138 p.
- 33. **Margus Pooga**. Cell penetrating peptide, transportan, and its predecessors, galanin-based chimeric peptides. Tartu, 1998, 110 p.
- 34. **Andres Saag**. Evolutionary relationships in some cetrarioid genera (Lichenized Ascomycota). Tartu, 1998, 196 p.
- 35. Aivar Liiv. Ribosomal large subunit assembly in vivo. Tartu, 1998, 158 p.
- 36. **Tatjana Oja**. Isoenzyme diversity and phylogenetic affinities among the eurasian annual bromes (*Bromus* L., Poaceae). Tartu, 1998, 92 p.
- 37. **Mari Moora**. The influence of arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) symbiosis on the competition and coexistence of calcareous crassland plant species. Tartu, 1998, 78 p.
- 38. **Olavi Kurina**. Fungus gnats in Estonia (*Diptera: Bolitophilidae, Keroplatidae, Macroceridae, Ditomyiidae, Diadocidiidae, Mycetophilidae*). Tartu, 1998, 200 p.
- 39. **Andrus Tasa**. Biological leaching of shales: black shale and oil shale. Tartu, 1998, 98 p.
- 40. **Arnold Kristjuhan.** Studies on transcriptional activator properties of tumor suppressor protein p53. Tartu, 1998, 86 p.

- 41. **Sulev Ingerpuu.** Characterization of some human myeloid cell surface and nuclear differentiation antigens. Tartu, 1998, 163 p.
- 42. **Veljo Kisand.** Responses of planktonic bacteria to the abiotic and biotic factors in the shallow lake Võrtsjärv. Tartu, 1998, 118 p.
- 43. **Kadri Põldmaa.** Studies in the systematics of hypomyces and allied genera (Hypocreales, Ascomycota). Tartu, 1998, 178 p.
- 44. **Markus Vetemaa.** Reproduction parameters of fish as indicators in environmental monitoring. Tartu, 1998, 117 p.
- 45. **Heli Talvik.** Prepatent periods and species composition of different *Oesophagostomum* spp. populations in Estonia and Denmark. Tartu, 1998, 104 p.
- 46. **Katrin Heinsoo.** Cuticular and stomatal antechamber conductance to water vapour diffusion in *Picea abies* (L.) karst. Tartu, 1999, 133 p.
- 47. **Tarmo Annilo.** Studies on mammalian ribosomal protein S7. Tartu, 1998, 77 p.
- 48. **Indrek Ots.** Health state indicies of reproducing great tits (*Parus major*): sources of variation and connections with life-history traits. Tartu, 1999, 117 p.
- 49. **Juan Jose Cantero.** Plant community diversity and habitat relationships in central Argentina grasslands. Tartu, 1999, 161 p.
- 50. **Rein Kalamees.** Seed bank, seed rain and community regeneration in Estonian calcareous grasslands. Tartu, 1999, 107 p.
- 51. **Sulev Kõks.** Cholecystokinin (CCK) induced anxiety in rats: influence of environmental stimuli and involvement of endopioid mechanisms and erotonin. Tartu, 1999, 123 p.
- 52. **Ebe Sild.** Impact of increasing concentrations of O<sub>3</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> on wheat, clover and pasture. Tartu, 1999, 123 p.
- 53. **Ljudmilla Timofejeva.** Electron microscopical analysis of the synaptonemal complex formation in cereals. Tartu, 1999, 99 p.
- 54. **Andres Valkna.** Interactions of galanin receptor with ligands and G-proteins: studies with synthetic peptides. Tartu, 1999, 103 p.
- 55. **Taavi Virro.** Life cycles of planktonic rotifers in lake Peipsi. Tartu, 1999, 101 p.
- 56. **Ana Rebane.** Mammalian ribosomal protein S3a genes and intron-encoded small nucleolar RNAs U73 and U82. Tartu, 1999, 85 p.
- 57. **Tiina Tamm.** Cocksfoot mottle virus: the genome organisation and translational strategies. Tartu, 2000, 101 p.
- 58. **Reet Kurg.** Structure-function relationship of the bovine papilloma virus E2 protein. Tartu, 2000, 89 p.
- 59. **Toomas Kivisild.** The origins of Southern and Western Eurasian populations: an mtDNA study. Tartu, 2000, 121 p.
- 60. **Niilo Kaldalu.** Studies of the TOL plasmid transcription factor XylS. Tartu 2000. 88 p.

- 61. **Dina Lepik.** Modulation of viral DNA replication by tumor suppressor protein p53. Tartu 2000. 106 p.
- 62. **Kai Vellak.** Influence of different factors on the diversity of the bryophyte vegetation in forest and wooded meadow communities. Tartu 2000. 122 p.
- 63. **Jonne Kotta.** Impact of eutrophication and biological invasionas on the structure and functions of benthic macrofauna. Tartu 2000. 160 p.
- 64. **Georg Martin.** Phytobenthic communities of the Gulf of Riga and the inner sea the West-Estonian archipelago. Tartu, 2000. 139 p.
- 65. **Silvia Sepp.** Morphological and genetical variation of *Alchemilla L*. in Estonia. Tartu, 2000. 124 p.
- 66. **Jaan Liira.** On the determinants of structure and diversity in herbaceous plant communities. Tartu, 2000. 96 p.
- 67. **Priit Zingel.** The role of planktonic ciliates in lake ecosystems. Tartu 2001. 111 p.
- 68. **Tiit Teder.** Direct and indirect effects in Host-parasitoid interactions: ecological and evolutionary consequences. Tartu 2001. 122 p.
- 69. **Hannes Kollist.** Leaf apoplastic ascorbate as ozone scavenger and its transport across the plasma membrane. Tartu 2001. 80 p.
- 70. **Reet Marits.** Role of two-component regulator system PehR-PehS and extracellular protease PrtW in virulence of *Erwinia Carotovora* subsp. *Carotovora*. Tartu 2001. 112 p.
- 71. **Vallo Tilgar.** Effect of calcium supplementation on reproductive performance of the pied flycatcher *Ficedula hypoleuca* and the great tit *Parus major*, breeding in Nothern temperate forests. Tartu, 2002. 126 p.
- 72. **Rita Hõrak.** Regulation of transposition of transposon Tn4652 in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2002. 108 p.
- 73. **Liina Eek-Piirsoo.** The effect of fertilization, mowing and additional illumination on the structure of a species-rich grassland community. Tartu, 2002. 74 p.
- 74. **Krõõt Aasamaa.** Shoot hydraulic conductance and stomatal conductance of six temperate deciduous tree species. Tartu, 2002. 110 p.
- 75. **Nele Ingerpuu.** Bryophyte diversity and vascular plants. Tartu, 2002. 112 p.
- 76. **Neeme Tõnisson.** Mutation detection by primer extension on oligonucleotide microarrays. Tartu, 2002. 124 p.
- 77. **Margus Pensa.** Variation in needle retention of Scots pine in relation to leaf morphology, nitrogen conservation and tree age. Tartu, 2003. 110 p.
- 78. **Asko Lõhmus.** Habitat preferences and quality for birds of prey: from principles to applications. Tartu, 2003. 168 p.
- 79. **Viljar Jaks.** p53 a switch in cellular circuit. Tartu, 2003. 160 p.
- 80. **Jaana Männik.** Characterization and genetic studies of four ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters. Tartu, 2003. 140 p.
- 81. **Marek Sammul.** Competition and coexistence of clonal plants in relation to productivity. Tartu, 2003. 159 p

- 82. **Ivar Ilves.** Virus-cell interactions in the replication cycle of bovine papillomavirus type 1. Tartu, 2003. 89 p.
- 83. **Andres Männik.** Design and characterization of a novel vector system based on the stable replicator of bovine papillomavirus type 1. Tartu, 2003. 109 p.
- 84. **Ivika Ostonen.** Fine root structure, dynamics and proportion in net primary production of Norway spruce forest ecosystem in relation to site conditions. Tartu, 2003. 158 p.
- 85. **Gudrun Veldre.** Somatic status of 12–15-year-old Tartu schoolchildren. Tartu, 2003. 199 p.
- 86. Ülo Väli. The greater spotted eagle *Aquila clanga* and the lesser spotted eagle *A. pomarina*: taxonomy, phylogeography and ecology. Tartu, 2004. 159 p.
- 87. **Aare Abroi.** The determinants for the native activities of the bovine papillomavirus type 1 E2 protein are separable. Tartu, 2004. 135 p.
- 88. **Tiina Kahre.** Cystic fibrosis in Estonia. Tartu, 2004. 116 p.
- 89. **Helen Orav-Kotta.** Habitat choice and feeding activity of benthic suspension feeders and mesograzers in the northern Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2004. 117 p.
- 90. **Maarja Öpik.** Diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in the roots of perennial plants and their effect on plant performance. Tartu, 2004. 175 p.
- 91. **Kadri Tali.** Species structure of *Neotinea ustulata*. Tartu, 2004. 109 p.
- 92. **Kristiina Tambets.** Towards the understanding of post-glacial spread of human mitochondrial DNA haplogroups in Europe and beyond: a phylogeographic approach. Tartu, 2004. 163 p.
- 93. Arvi Jõers. Regulation of p53-dependent transcription. Tartu, 2004. 103 p.
- 94. **Lilian Kadaja.** Studies on modulation of the activity of tumor suppressor protein p53. Tartu, 2004. 103 p.
- 95. **Jaak Truu.** Oil shale industry wastewater: impact on river microbial community and possibilities for bioremediation. Tartu, 2004. 128 p.
- 96. **Maire Peters.** Natural horizontal transfer of the *pheBA* operon. Tartu, 2004. 105 p.
- 97. **Ülo Maiväli.** Studies on the structure-function relationship of the bacterial ribosome. Tartu, 2004. 130 p.
- 98. **Merit Otsus.** Plant community regeneration and species diversity in dry calcareous grasslands. Tartu, 2004. 103 p.
- 99. **Mikk Heidemaa.** Systematic studies on sawflies of the genera *Dolerus*, *Empria*, and *Caliroa* (Hymenoptera: Tenthredinidae). Tartu, 2004. 167 p.
- 100. **Ilmar Tõnno.** The impact of nitrogen and phosphorus concentration and N/P ratio on cyanobacterial dominance and  $N_2$  fixation in some Estonian lakes. Tartu, 2004. 111 p.
- 101. **Lauri Saks.** Immune function, parasites, and carotenoid-based ornaments in greenfinches. Tartu, 2004. 144 p.
- 102. **Siiri Rootsi.** Human Y-chromosomal variation in European populations. Tartu, 2004. 142 p.

- 103. **Eve Vedler.** Structure of the 2,4-dichloro-phenoxyacetic acid-degradative plasmid pEST4011. Tartu, 2005. 106 p.
- 104. **Andres Tover.** Regulation of transcription of the phenol degradation *pheBA* operon in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2005. 126 p.
- 105. **Helen Udras.** Hexose kinases and glucose transport in the yeast *Hansenula polymorpha*. Tartu, 2005. 100 p.
- 106. **Ave Suija.** Lichens and lichenicolous fungi in Estonia: diversity, distribution patterns, taxonomy. Tartu, 2005. 162 p.
- 107. Piret Lõhmus. Forest lichens and their substrata in Estonia. Tartu, 2005. 162 p.
- 108. **Inga Lips.** Abiotic factors controlling the cyanobacterial bloom occurrence in the Gulf of Finland. Tartu, 2005. 156 p.
- 109. **Kaasik, Krista.** Circadian clock genes in mammalian clockwork, metabolism and behaviour. Tartu, 2005. 121 p.
- 110. **Juhan Javoiš.** The effects of experience on host acceptance in ovipositing moths. Tartu, 2005. 112 p.
- 111. **Tiina Sedman.** Characterization of the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* mitochondrial DNA helicase Hmi1. Tartu, 2005. 103 p.
- 112. **Ruth Aguraiuja.** Hawaiian endemic fern lineage *Diellia* (Aspleniaceae): distribution, population structure and ecology. Tartu, 2005. 112 p.
- 113. **Riho Teras.** Regulation of transcription from the fusion promoters generated by transposition of Tn4652 into the upstream region of *pheBA* operon in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2005. 106 p.
- 114. **Mait Metspalu.** Through the course of prehistory in india: tracing the mtDNA trail. Tartu, 2005. 138 p.
- 115. **Elin Lõhmussaar.** The comparative patterns of linkage disequilibrium in European populations and its implication for genetic association studies. Tartu, 2006. 124 p.
- 116. **Priit Kupper.** Hydraulic and environmental limitations to leaf water relations in trees with respect to canopy position. Tartu, 2006. 126 p.
- 117. **Heili Ilves.** Stress-induced transposition of Tn4652 in *Pseudomonas Putida*. Tartu, 2006. 120 p.
- 118. **Silja Kuusk.** Biochemical properties of Hmi1p, a DNA helicase from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* mitochondria. Tartu, 2006. 126 p.
- 119. **Kersti Püssa.** Forest edges on medium resolution landsat thematic mapper satellite images. Tartu, 2006. 90 p.
- 120. **Lea Tummeleht.** Physiological condition and immune function in great tits (*Parus major* 1.): Sources of variation and trade-offs in relation to growth. Tartu, 2006. 94 p.
- 121. **Toomas Esperk.** Larval instar as a key element of insect growth schedules. Tartu, 2006. 186 p.
- 122. **Harri Valdmann.** Lynx (*Lynx lynx*) and wolf (*Canis lupus*) in the Baltic region: Diets, helminth parasites and genetic variation. Tartu, 2006. 102 p.

- 123. **Priit Jõers.** Studies of the mitochondrial helicase Hmi1p in *Candida albicans* and *Saccharomyces cerevisia*. Tartu, 2006. 113 p.
- 124. **Kersti Lilleväli.** Gata3 and Gata2 in inner ear development. Tartu, 2007. 123 p.
- 125. **Kai Rünk.** Comparative ecology of three fern species: *Dryopteris carthusiana* (Vill.) H.P. Fuchs, *D. expansa* (C. Presl) Fraser-Jenkins & Jermy and *D. dilatata* (Hoffm.) A. Gray (Dryopteridaceae). Tartu, 2007. 143 p.
- 126. **Aveliina Helm.** Formation and persistence of dry grassland diversity: role of human history and landscape structure. Tartu, 2007. 89 p.
- 127. **Leho Tedersoo.** Ectomycorrhizal fungi: diversity and community structure in Estonia, Seychelles and Australia. Tartu, 2007. 233 p.
- 128. **Marko Mägi.** The habitat-related variation of reproductive performance of great tits in a deciduous-coniferous forest mosaic: looking for causes and consequences. Tartu, 2007. 135 p.
- 129. **Valeria Lulla.** Replication strategies and applications of Semliki Forest virus. Tartu, 2007. 109 p.
- 130. **Ülle Reier**. Estonian threatened vascular plant species: causes of rarity and conservation. Tartu, 2007. 79 p.
- 131. **Inga Jüriado**. Diversity of lichen species in Estonia: influence of regional and local factors. Tartu, 2007. 171 p.
- 132. **Tatjana Krama.** Mobbing behaviour in birds: costs and reciprocity based cooperation. Tartu, 2007. 112 p.
- 133. **Signe Saumaa.** The role of DNA mismatch repair and oxidative DNA damage defense systems in avoidance of stationary phase mutations in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2007. 172 p.
- 134. **Reedik Mägi**. The linkage disequilibrium and the selection of genetic markers for association studies in european populations. Tartu, 2007. 96 p.
- 135. **Priit Kilgas.** Blood parameters as indicators of physiological condition and skeletal development in great tits (*Parus major*): natural variation and application in the reproductive ecology of birds. Tartu, 2007. 129 p.
- 136. **Anu Albert**. The role of water salinity in structuring eastern Baltic coastal fish communities. Tartu, 2007. 95 p.
- 137. **Kärt Padari.** Protein transduction mechanisms of transportans. Tartu, 2008. 128 p.
- 138. **Siiri-Lii Sandre.** Selective forces on larval colouration in a moth. Tartu, 2008. 125 p.
- 139. Ülle Jõgar. Conservation and restoration of semi-natural floodplain meadows and their rare plant species. Tartu, 2008. 99 p.
- 140. **Lauri Laanisto.** Macroecological approach in vegetation science: generality of ecological relationships at the global scale. Tartu, 2008. 133 p.
- 141. **Reidar Andreson**. Methods and software for predicting PCR failure rate in large genomes. Tartu, 2008. 105 p.
- 142. Birgot Paavel. Bio-optical properties of turbid lakes. Tartu, 2008. 175 p.

- 143. **Kaire Torn.** Distribution and ecology of charophytes in the Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2008, 98 p.
- 144. **Vladimir Vimberg.** Peptide mediated macrolide resistance. Tartu, 2008, 190 p.
- 145. **Daima Örd.** Studies on the stress-inducible pseudokinase TRB3, a novel inhibitor of transcription factor ATF4. Tartu, 2008, 108 p.
- 146. **Lauri Saag.** Taxonomic and ecologic problems in the genus *Lepraria* (*Stereocaulaceae*, lichenised *Ascomycota*). Tartu, 2008, 175 p.
- 147. **Ulvi Karu.** Antioxidant protection, carotenoids and coccidians in green-finches assessment of the costs of immune activation and mechanisms of parasite resistance in a passerine with carotenoid-based ornaments. Tartu, 2008, 124 p.
- 148. **Jaanus Remm.** Tree-cavities in forests: density, characteristics and occupancy by animals. Tartu, 2008, 128 p.
- 149. **Epp Moks.** Tapeworm parasites *Echinococcus multilocularis* and *E. granulosus* in Estonia: phylogenetic relationships and occurrence in wild carnivores and ungulates. Tartu, 2008, 82 p.
- 150. **Eve Eensalu.** Acclimation of stomatal structure and function in tree canopy: effect of light and CO<sub>2</sub> concentration. Tartu, 2008, 108 p.
- 151. **Janne Pullat**. Design, functionlization and application of an *in situ* synthesized oligonucleotide microarray. Tartu, 2008, 108 p.
- 152. **Marta Putrinš.** Responses of *Pseudomonas putida* to phenol-induced metabolic and stress signals. Tartu, 2008, 142 p.
- 153. **Marina Semtšenko.** Plant root behaviour: responses to neighbours and physical obstructions. Tartu, 2008, 106 p.
- 154. **Marge Starast.** Influence of cultivation techniques on productivity and fruit quality of some *Vaccinium* and *Rubus* taxa. Tartu, 2008, 154 p.
- 155. **Age Tats.** Sequence motifs influencing the efficiency of translation. Tartu, 2009, 104 p.
- 156. **Radi Tegova.** The role of specialized DNA polymerases in mutagenesis in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2009, 124 p.
- 157. **Tsipe Aavik.** Plant species richness, composition and functional trait pattern in agricultural landscapes the role of land use intensity and landscape structure. Tartu, 2008, 112 p.
- 158. **Kaja Kiiver.** Semliki forest virus based vectors and cell lines for studying the replication and interactions of alphaviruses and hepaciviruses. Tartu, 2009, 104 p.
- 159. **Meelis Kadaja.** Papillomavirus Replication Machinery Induces Genomic Instability in its Host Cell. Tartu, 2009, 126 p.
- 160. **Pille Hallast.** Human and chimpanzee Luteinizing hormone/Chorionic Gonadotropin beta (*LHB/CGB*) gene clusters: diversity and divergence of young duplicated genes. Tartu, 2009, 168 p.
- 161. **Ain Vellak.** Spatial and temporal aspects of plant species conservation. Tartu, 2009, 86 p.

- 162. **Triinu Remmel.** Body size evolution in insects with different colouration strategies: the role of predation risk. Tartu, 2009, 168 p.
- 163. **Jaana Salujõe.** Zooplankton as the indicator of ecological quality and fish predation in lake ecosystems. Tartu, 2009, 129 p.
- 164. **Ele Vahtmäe.** Mapping benthic habitat with remote sensing in optically complex coastal environments. Tartu, 2009, 109 p.
- 165. **Liisa Metsamaa.** Model-based assessment to improve the use of remote sensing in recognition and quantitative mapping of cyanobacteria. Tartu, 2009, 114 p.
- 166. **Pille Säälik.** The role of endocytosis in the protein transduction by cell-penetrating peptides. Tartu, 2009, 155 p.
- 167. **Lauri Peil.** Ribosome assembly factors in *Escherichia coli*. Tartu, 2009, 147 p.
- 168. **Lea Hallik.** Generality and specificity in light harvesting, carbon gain capacity and shade tolerance among plant functional groups. Tartu, 2009, 99 p.
- 169. **Mariliis Tark.** Mutagenic potential of DNA damage repair and tolerance mechanisms under starvation stress. Tartu, 2009, 191 p.
- 170. **Riinu Rannap.** Impacts of habitat loss and restoration on amphibian populations. Tartu, 2009, 117 p.
- 171. **Maarja Adojaan.** Molecular variation of HIV-1 and the use of this know-ledge in vaccine development. Tartu, 2009, 95 p.
- 172. **Signe Altmäe.** Genomics and transcriptomics of human induced ovarian folliculogenesis. Tartu, 2010, 179 p.
- 173. **Triin Suvi.** Mycorrhizal fungi of native and introduced trees in the Seychelles Islands. Tartu, 2010, 107 p.
- 174. **Velda Lauringson.** Role of suspension feeding in a brackish-water coastal sea. Tartu, 2010, 123 p.
- 175. **Eero Talts.** Photosynthetic cyclic electron transport measurement and variably proton-coupled mechanism. Tartu, 2010, 121 p.
- 176. **Mari Nelis.** Genetic structure of the Estonian population and genetic distance from other populations of European descent. Tartu, 2010, 97 p.
- 177. **Kaarel Krjutškov.** Arrayed Primer Extension-2 as a multiplex PCR-based method for nucleic acid variation analysis: method and applications. Tartu, 2010, 129 p.
- 178. **Egle Köster.** Morphological and genetical variation within species complexes: *Anthyllis vulneraria* s. l. and *Alchemilla vulgaris* (coll.). Tartu, 2010, 101 p.
- 179. **Erki Õunap.** Systematic studies on the subfamily Sterrhinae (Lepidoptera: Geometridae). Tartu, 2010, 111 p.
- 180. **Merike Jõesaar.** Diversity of key catabolic genes at degradation of phenol and *p*-cresol in pseudomonads. Tartu, 2010, 125 p.
- 181. **Kristjan Herkül.** Effects of physical disturbance and habitat-modifying species on sediment properties and benthic communities in the northern Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2010, 123 p.

- 182. **Arto Pulk.** Studies on bacterial ribosomes by chemical modification approaches. Tartu, 2010, 161 p.
- 183. **Maria Põllupüü.** Ecological relations of cladocerans in a brackish-water ecosystem. Tartu, 2010, 126 p.
- 184. **Toomas Silla.** Study of the segregation mechanism of the Bovine Papillomavirus Type 1. Tartu, 2010, 188 p.
- 185. **Gyaneshwer Chaubey.** The demographic history of India: A perspective based on genetic evidence. Tartu, 2010, 184 p.
- 186. **Katrin Kepp.** Genes involved in cardiovascular traits: detection of genetic variation in Estonian and Czech populations. Tartu, 2010, 164 p.
- 187. **Virve Sõber.** The role of biotic interactions in plant reproductive performance. Tartu, 2010, 92 p.
- 188. **Kersti Kangro.** The response of phytoplankton community to the changes in nutrient loading. Tartu, 2010, 144 p.
- 189. **Joachim M. Gerhold.** Replication and Recombination of mitochondrial DNA in Yeast. Tartu, 2010, 120 p.
- 190. **Helen Tammert.** Ecological role of physiological and phylogenetic diversity in aquatic bacterial communities. Tartu, 2010, 140 p.
- 191. **Elle Rajandu.** Factors determining plant and lichen species diversity and composition in Estonian *Calamagrostis* and *Hepatica* site type forests. Tartu, 2010, 123 p.
- 192. **Paula Ann Kivistik.** ColR-ColS signalling system and transposition of Tn4652 in the adaptation of *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2010, 118 p.
- 193. **Siim Sõber.** Blood pressure genetics: from candidate genes to genomewide association studies. Tartu, 2011, 120 p.
- 194. **Kalle Kipper.** Studies on the role of helix 69 of 23S rRNA in the factor-dependent stages of translation initiation, elongation, and termination. Tartu, 2011, 178 p.
- 195. **Triinu Siibak.** Effect of antibiotics on ribosome assembly is indirect. Tartu, 2011, 134 p.
- 196. **Tambet Tõnissoo.** Identification and molecular analysis of the role of guanine nucleotide exchange factor RIC-8 in mouse development and neural function. Tartu, 2011, 110 p.
- 197. **Helin Räägel.** Multiple faces of cell-penetrating peptides their intracellular trafficking, stability and endosomal escape during protein transduction. Tartu, 2011, 161 p.
- 198. **Andres Jaanus.** Phytoplankton in Estonian coastal waters variability, trends and response to environmental pressures. Tartu, 2011, 157 p.
- 199. **Tiit Nikopensius.** Genetic predisposition to nonsyndromic orofacial clefts. Tartu, 2011, 152 p.
- 200. **Signe Värv.** Studies on the mechanisms of RNA polymerase II-dependent transcription elongation. Tartu, 2011, 108 p.
- 201. **Kristjan Välk.** Gene expression profiling and genome-wide association studies of non-small cell lung cancer. Tartu, 2011, 98 p.

- 202. **Arno Põllumäe.** Spatio-temporal patterns of native and invasive zooplankton species under changing climate and eutrophication conditions. Tartu, 2011, 153 p.
- 203. **Egle Tammeleht.** Brown bear (*Ursus arctos*) population structure, demographic processes and variations in diet in northern Eurasia. Tartu, 2011, 143 p.
- 205. **Teele Jairus.** Species composition and host preference among ectomy-corrhizal fungi in Australian and African ecosystems. Tartu, 2011, 106 p.
- 206. **Kessy Abarenkov.** PlutoF cloud database and computing services supporting biological research. Tartu, 2011, 125 p.
- 207. **Marina Grigorova.** Fine-scale genetic variation of follicle-stimulating hormone beta-subunit coding gene (*FSHB*) and its association with reproductive health. Tartu, 2011, 184 p.
- 208. **Anu Tiitsaar.** The effects of predation risk and habitat history on butterfly communities. Tartu, 2011, 97 p.
- 209. **Elin Sild.** Oxidative defences in immunoecological context: validation and application of assays for nitric oxide production and oxidative burst in a wild passerine. Tartu, 2011, 105 p.
- 210. **Irja Saar**. The taxonomy and phylogeny of the genera *Cystoderma* and *Cystodermella* (Agaricales, Fungi). Tartu, 2012, 167 p.
- 211. **Pauli Saag.** Natural variation in plumage bacterial assemblages in two wild breeding passerines. Tartu, 2012, 113 p.
- 212. **Aleksei Lulla.** Alphaviral nonstructural protease and its polyprotein substrate: arrangements for the perfect marriage. Tartu, 2012, 143 p.
- 213. **Mari Järve.** Different genetic perspectives on human history in Europe and the Caucasus: the stories told by uniparental and autosomal markers. Tartu, 2012, 119 p.
- 214. Ott Scheler. The application of tmRNA as a marker molecule in bacterial diagnostics using microarray and biosensor technology. Tartu, 2012, 93 p.
- 215. **Anna Balikova**. Studies on the functions of tumor-associated mucin-like leukosialin (CD43) in human cancer cells. Tartu 2012, 129 p.
- 216. **Triinu Kõressaar.** Improvement of PCR primer design for detection of prokaryotic species. Tartu 2012, 83 p.